EXACT CONTROLLABILITY OF ANISOTROPIC 1D PARTIAL DIFFERENTIAL EQUATIONS IN SPACES OF ANALYTIC FUNCTIONS

CAMILLE LAURENT, IVONNE RIVAS, AND LIONEL ROSIER

ABSTRACT. In this article, we prove a local controllability result for a general class of 1D partial differential equations on the interval (0,1). The PDEs we consider take the form $\partial_t^N y = \zeta_M \partial_x^M y + f(x,y,\partial_x y,...,\partial_x^{M-1} y)$ where $1 \leq N < M$, $\zeta_M \in \mathbb{C}^*$, and f is some linear or nonlinear term of lower order. In this context, we prove a local controllability result between states that are analytic functions. If some boundary conditions are prescribed, a similar local controllability result holds between analytic functions satisfying some compatibility conditions that are natural for the existence of smooth solutions of the considered PDE. The proof is performed by studying a nonlinear Cauchy problem in the spatial variable with data in some spaces of Gevrey functions and by investigating the relationship between the jet of space derivatives and the jet of time derivatives. We give various examples of applications, including the (good and bad) Boussinesq equation, the Ginzburg-Landau equation, the Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation and the Korteweg-de Vries equation.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 35K40, 93B05

Keywords: anisotropic PDEs; exact controllability; ill-posed problems; Gevrey functions; reachable states.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Examples	6
2.1. The Korteweg-de Vries equation	7
2.2. Boussinesq equation	9
2.3. The complex Ginzburg-Landau equation	10
2.4. The Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation	11
2.5. The case of a linear PDE with constant coefficients	12
3. Cauchy problem in the space variable	12
3.1. Statement of the global wellposedness result	12
3.2. Abstract existence theorem	13
3.3. Gevrey type functional spaces	14
3.4. Application to the semi-linear PDE	16
4. Correspondence between the space derivatives and the time derivatives	23
5. Proofs of Theorem 1.2 and Proposition 1.3	41
Appendix	44
6. A Lemma of complex analysis	44

6.1. Gevrey regularity of the solution of (3.1) provided in Theorem 3.1	45
7. On the complex Ginzburg-Landau equation Acknowledgements	47
	48
References	49

1. Introduction

For $M, N \in \mathbb{N}^* := \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$ fixed with M > N and y a function defined on $[0,1] \times [0,T]$, with value in \mathbb{R} , we consider the abstract dynamical system

$$\partial_t^N y = P y + f(x, y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{M-1} y), \qquad x \in [0, 1], \ t \in [0, T],$$
(1.1)

$$BY^{x}(0,t) = 0, t \in [0,T],$$
 (1.2)

$$Y^{t}(x,0) = Y_{0}(x), x \in [0,1], (1.3)$$

with

$$Y^{x}(x,t) := (y(x,t), \partial_{x}y(x,t), ..., \partial_{x}^{M-1}y(x,t)), \tag{1.4}$$

$$Y^{t}(x,t) := (y(x,t), \partial_{t}y(x,t), ..., \partial_{t}^{N-1}y(x,t)), \tag{1.5}$$

$$P := \sum_{j=0}^{M} \zeta_j \partial_x^j, \tag{1.6}$$

where $\zeta_j \in \mathbb{R}$ for $0 \leq j \leq M$ and $\zeta_M \neq 0$, $Y_0 \in C^{\infty}([0,1])^N$, $B \in \mathbb{R}^{v \times M}$ is a fixed real matrix of size $v \times M$, and $v \in \mathbb{N}$ is the number of boundary conditions that we require to be equal to zero. (If v = 0, it indicates that there is no boundary condition at x = 0.) Finally, we assume $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{M+1}; \mathbb{R})$ and f is analytic with respect to all its arguments in a neighborhood of $\vec{0}_{\mathbb{R}^{M+1}}$. More precisely, we assume that

$$f(x,0,\ldots,0) = 0, \quad \forall x \in (-4,4),$$
 (1.7)

and

$$f(x, \vec{y}) := \sum_{(\vec{p}, r) \in \mathbb{N}^{M+1}} a_{\vec{p}, r} \vec{y}^{\vec{p}} x^r = \sum_{(\vec{p}, r) \in \mathbb{N}^{M+1}} a_{\vec{p}, r} y_0^{p_0} y_1^{p_1} \dots y_{M-1}^{p_{M-1}} x^r$$
(1.8)

with $\vec{y} = (y_0, y_1, ..., y_{M-1}), (x, \vec{y}) \in (-4, 4)^{M+1}$, and $\vec{p} = (p_0, ..., p_{M-1}) \in \mathbb{N}^M$ where the coefficients $a_{\vec{p},r}$ are such that

$$|a_{\vec{p},r}| \le \frac{C_a}{b^{|\vec{p}|}b_2^r}, \qquad \forall r \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall \vec{p} \in \mathbb{N}^M,$$
 (1.9)

for some constants

$$C_a > 0, \quad b > 4, \quad \text{and } b_2 > 4.$$
 (1.10)

Note that $a_{\vec{0},r}=0$ for all $r\in\mathbb{N}$ by (1.7). For $\vec{p}\in\mathbb{N}^M,$ we define

$$A_{\vec{p}}(x) := \sum_{r \in \mathbb{N}} a_{\vec{p},r} x^r, \quad |x| < b_2.$$

We infer from (1.8) and (1.9) that

$$f(x, \vec{y}) = \sum_{\substack{\vec{p} \in \mathbb{N}^M \\ |\vec{p}| > 0}} A_{\vec{p}}(x) \vec{y}^{\vec{p}} = \sum_{\substack{\vec{p} \in \mathbb{N}^M \\ |\vec{p}| > 0}} A_{\vec{p}}(x) y_0^{p_0} y_1^{p_1} \dots y_{M-1}^{p_{M-1}}, \tag{1.11}$$

$$|A_{\vec{p}}(x)| \le \frac{C_a}{b^{|\vec{p}|}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{|x|}{b_2}}, \quad |x| < b_2.$$
 (1.12)

Among the many physically relevant instances of (1.1) satisfying (1.7)-(1.10), we can mention

(1) the Korteweg-de Vries (KdV) equation

$$\partial_t y = \partial_x^3 y + \partial_x y + y \partial_x y;$$

(2) the "good" (-) or "bad" (+) Boussinesq equation

$$\partial_t^2 y = \pm \partial_x^4 y + \partial_x^2 y - \partial_x^2 (y^2);$$

(3) the Kuramoto-Sivashinsky (KS) equation

$$\partial_t y + \partial_x^4 y + \partial_x^2 y + y \partial_x y = 0.$$

With a few modifications in the framework, we can also treat

(4) the complex Ginzburg-Landau (GL) equation

$$\partial_t y = e^{i\theta} \partial_x^2 y + e^{i\varphi} |y|^2 y$$
 where $\theta, \varphi \in \mathbb{R}$.

The exact controllability result has to be stated in a space of analytic functions (see [25] for the linear heat equation). For given R > 1 and C > 0, we denote by $\mathcal{N}_{R,C}$ and $\mathcal{R}_{R,C}$ the sets

$$\mathcal{N}_{R,C} := \left\{ (\alpha_n)_{n \ge 0} \in \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}}; |\alpha_n| \le C \frac{n!}{R^n}, \ \forall n \ge 0 \right\} \subset \mathbb{C}^{\mathbb{N}}, \tag{1.13}$$

$$\mathcal{R}_{R,C} := \left\{ z : [-1,1] \to \mathbb{C} : \exists (\alpha_n)_{n \ge 0} \in \mathcal{N}_{R,C} \text{ with } z(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_n \frac{x^n}{n!}, \ \forall x \in [-1,1] \right\}. \quad (1.14)$$

Let us denote by $H(\Omega)$ the space of holomorphic functions in Ω , and let us introduce the Hardy space $H_R^{\infty} := H(B(0,R)) \cap L^{\infty}(B(0,R))$, which is a Banach space for the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}(B(0,R))}$ (see [33]). Let

$$\mathcal{B}_{R,C} := \{ z : [-1,1] \to \mathbb{C}; \ \exists f \in H_R^{\infty}, \ \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(B(0,R))} \le C, \ f_{\lceil \lceil -1,1 \rceil} = z \}.$$

Observe that

$$\mathcal{B}_{R,C} \subset \mathcal{R}_{R,C} \subset \mathcal{B}_{r,C(1-\frac{r}{R})^{-1}}$$
 for $1 < r < R$ and $C > 0$.

For the proof, see below Lemma 6.1.

We say that a function $h \in C^{\infty}([t_1, t_2])$ is Gevrey of order $s \geq 0$ on $[t_1, t_2]$, and we write $h \in G^s([t_1, t_2])$, if there exist some positive constants C, R such that

$$|\partial_t^p h(t)| \le C \frac{(p!)^s}{R^p}, \quad \forall t \in [t_1, t_2], \ \forall p \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Similarly, we say that a function $y \in C^{\infty}([x_1, x_2] \times [t_1, t_2])$ is Gevrey of order s_1 in x and s_2 in t, with $s_1, s_2 \geq 0$, and we write $y \in G^{s_1, s_2}([x_1, x_2] \times [t_1, t_2])$, if there exist some positive constants C, R_1, R_2 such that

$$|\partial_x^{p_1}\partial_t^{p_2}y(x,t)| \le C \frac{(p_1!)^{s_1}(p_2!)^{s_2}}{R_1^{p_1}R_2^{p_2}}, \quad \forall (x,t) \in [x_1,x_2] \times [t_1,t_2], \ \forall (p_1,p_2) \in \mathbb{N}^2.$$
 (1.15)

The suitable time Gevrey regularity in our situation is

$$\lambda := \frac{M}{N} > 1.$$

Before giving our results, we need to define a set of compatibility conditions. The initial data need to belong to a specific set to ensure the existence of smooth solutions issuing from these initial data. Indeed, the equation imposes some relations between the time derivatives of the solutions and the space derivatives of the initial data. Namely, we have the following property whose proof is constructive and mainly consists in taking derivatives in the PDE.

Lemma 1.1. For any $l \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist a number $m = m(l) \in \mathbb{N}$ and a smooth application $J_l : [-1,1] \times (\mathbb{R}^N)^{m(l)+1} \to \mathbb{R}^M$ such that for any solution $y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ of $\partial_t^N y = P y + f(x,y,\partial_x y,...,\partial_x^{M-1}y)$, we have

$$\partial_t^l Y^x = J_l(x, Y^t, \partial_x Y^t, ..., \partial_x^m Y^t)) \quad \text{on } [-1, 1] \times [t_1, t_2].$$
 (1.16)

Definition 1. Let J_l , $l \in \mathbb{N}$, be the vector functions defined in Lemma 1.1. We define the following **compatibility set**

$$C := \left\{ Y_0 \in C^{\infty}([0,1])^N; \quad BJ_l(x, Y_0, \partial_x Y_0, ..., \partial_x^{m(l)} Y_0) \Big|_{x=0} = 0, \quad \forall l \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$
 (1.17)

The compatibility set C plays an important role in the exact controllability of system (1.1)-(1.3). Since the PDE (1.1) is time-invariant, we can check that the condition (1.17) is the same at any time. In particular

- for any smooth solution y of (1.1)-(1.2), we have that $Y^x(t) \in \mathcal{C}$ for any $t \in [0, T]$. (See below Lemma 4.4.)
- if y is a smooth solution to (1.1) such that $Y^x(t) \in \mathcal{C}$ for any $t \in [0, T]$, then y satisfies the boundary condition (1.2). (See below Lemma 4.5.)

If we want to consider the boundary controllability of the PDE (1.1) subject to the boundary conditions (1.2), it is therefore very natural to consider initial and final data in the space \mathcal{C} . We will derive a controllability result by considering small amplitude analytic functions in \mathcal{C} . The main result in this paper is the following local exact controllability result.

Theorem 1.2. Let $f = f(x, \vec{y})$ be as in (1.7)-(1.10) with $b, b_2 > \hat{R} := 4Me^{(\lambda e)^{-1}}$ Let $R > \hat{R}$ and T > 0. Then there exists some number $\hat{C} > 0$ such that for all $Y_0, Y_1 \in (\mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}})^N \cap \mathcal{C}$, there exists a smooth solution y of (1.1)-(1.3) defined for all $(x, t) \in [0, 1] \times [0, T]$ and satisfying $Y^t(x, T) = Y_1(x)$ for all $x \in [0, 1]$. Furthermore, we have $y \in G^{1,\lambda}([0, 1] \times [0, T])$.

We stress that Theorem 1.2 can be applied to **any** PDE with less derivatives in time than in space, even if the corresponding initial boundary value problem is **not well-posed**. For instance, the backward heat equation $\partial_t y = -\partial_x^2 y$ and the bad Boussinesq equation $\partial_t^2 y = \partial_x^4 y + \partial_x^2 y - \partial_x^2 (y^2)$ are concerned.

It is difficult in general to describe explicitly \mathcal{C} (see Section 2.1 for the KdV equation). However, the set \mathcal{C} can be precisely described in the following cases:

- If B=0 (i.e. no boundary conditions at x=0), then $\mathcal{C}=C^{\infty}([0,1])^N$ (i.e. all smooth initial data are allowed)
- If f = 0 (linear PDE with constant coefficients), then the compatibility set reads

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ Y_0 = (y_0, y_1, \dots, y_l, \dots, y_{N-1}) \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])^N \text{ such that } BP^j Y_0^{x, l}(0) = 0, \\ \forall j \in \mathbb{N}, \forall l = 0, \dots, N-1 \right\}$$

when we denoted $Y_0^{x,l}(x) := (y_l(x), \dots, \partial_x^{M-1} y_l(x))$ as in (1.4). We refer to Proposition 2.8 for a precise statement and for the proof.

• if $M \in 2\mathbb{N}$ and $P = \sum_{j=0}^{M/2} \zeta_{2j} \partial_x^{2j}$ (i.e. P contains only even derivatives), some parity arguments can be used under some symmetry assumptions about the non-linearity, as it is shown in the following proposition.

Proposition 1.3. Assume that $M \in 2\mathbb{N}$ and $P = \sum_{i=0}^{M/2} \zeta_{2i} \partial_x^{2j}$.

(1) If the boundary conditions $BY^{x}(0,t) = 0$ reduce to $\partial_{x}^{2j}y(0,t) = 0$ for $2j \leq M-1$, and if for all $x \in [-1, 1]$ and all $(y_0, ..., y_M) \in (-4, 4)^{M+1}$ we have

$$f(-x, -y_0, \dots, (-1)^{i+1}y_i, \dots, y_{M-1}) = -f(x, y_0, \dots, y_{M-1})$$
(1.18)

then

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ Y_0 = (y_0, y_1, ..., y_{N-1}) \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])^N; \quad \partial_x^{2j} y_l(0) = 0 \quad \forall j \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall l = 0,N-1 \right\}$$

(2) If the boundary conditions $BY^{x}(0,t) = 0$ reduce to $\partial_{x}^{2j+1}y(0,t) = 0$ for $2j + 1 \leq M - 1$, and if for all $x \in [-1,1]$ and all $(y_0,...,y_M) \in (-4,4)^{M+1}$ we have

$$f(-x, y_0, \dots, (-1)^i y_i, \dots, -y_{M-1}) = f(x, y_0, \dots, y_{M-1})$$
(1.19)

then

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ Y_0 = (y_0, y_1, ..., y_{N-1}) \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])^N; \quad \partial_x^{2j+1} y_l(0) = 0, \quad \forall j \in \mathbb{N}, \forall l = 0, ..., N-1 \right\}.$$

Note that in the last two cases, the intersection of C with the set of analytic functions is a set of functions that admit odd (respectively even) extensions. Note also that the "good" and "bad" Boussinesq equations satisfy only (1.19), while the Ginzburg-Landau equation satisfies both (1.18) and (1.19).

- (1) The constant $\hat{R} := 4Me^{(\lambda e)^{-1}}$ is probably not optimal, but we aimed to Remark 1. provide an explicit (reasonable) constant. For the linear heat equation, it is known that the optimal constant is $\hat{R} := 1$ with a diamond-shaped domain of analyticity (see [4, 13,
 - (2) If f is linear in the variables $\vec{y} = (y_0, \dots, y_{M-1})$, then the PDE (1.1) is linear and the smallness assumption on the amplitude of the initial and final data can be removed, as long as $Y^0, Y^1 \in (\mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}})^N \cap \mathcal{C}$ for some $\hat{C} \in (0, +\infty)$. In particular, for $f(x, \vec{y}) = V(x)y_0$, Theorem 1.2 applies for any equation of the form $\partial_t^N y = P y + V(x) y$ where V is analytic

in a sufficiently large ball. The compatibility set C may depend on V. Note however that both conditions (1.18) and (1.19) are satisfied if V is even (i.e. V(x) = V(-x) for all $x \in [-1,1]$). Theorem 1.2 applies for instance for the linear heat equation $\partial_t y = \partial_x^2 y + V(x)y$ without any smallness assumption about the potential V(x), giving that the reachable space from zero contains functions that are analytic in some sufficiently large ball. See [8] for a more precise result about the reachable space, but under a smallness assumption about the potential.

Note also that the most relevant term of P is actually the higher order term $\zeta_M \partial_x^M$, since linear lower order terms can be put either in P or in $f(x, y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{M-1} y)$. Yet, we have chosen to keep this form because C is easily determined for a linear PDE with constant coefficients.

- (3) The definition of C seems to depend on some choice of the functions J_l^k . However, the proof of Lemma 1.1 is constructive and therefore it provides an algorithm to define these functions. Moreover, it is possible (see Lemma 4.17 below) to prove that if two functions J_l^k satisfy the property (1.16) for all solution y of (1.1), then they coincide in the product of [-1,1] and some small ball $B(0,\varepsilon)$ of $(\mathbb{R}^N)^{m(l)+1}$ which is the domain where we are going to use it. In any case, the previous property implies that the functions J_l^k are unique in the class of analytic functions.
- (4) The paper has been written for a quite general PDE. However, it might certainly be possible to consider more general PDEs, containing for instance time derivatives in the lower order terms, or in the nonlinearity, or some time-dependent coefficients. We did not consider these cases because it would render the proof more technical and more difficult to read.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, we apply our main results to the Korteweg de-Vries equation, the Boussinesq equation, the Ginzbourg-Landau equation, and the Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation. Section 3 is concerned with the existence and uniqueness results for the Cauchy problem in the x-variable (Theorem 3.1). The relationship between the jet of space derivatives and the jet of time derivatives at some point (jet analysis) for a solution of (1.1) is studied in Section 4. In particular, we show that the nonlinear equation (1.1) can be (locally) solved forward and backward if the initial data Y_0 can be extended as an analytic function in some ball of $\mathbb C$ (Proposition 4.11). Finally, the proofs of Theorem 1.2 and Proposition 1.3 are displayed in Section 5.

2. Examples

In this section, we list a few examples of equations coming from physical models for which our general result applies. The list is of course not exhaustive. Also, we limited ourselves to some models that contain a regularizing effect coming from a parabolic behavior or from smoothing boundary conditions. It is not that Theorem 1.2 is limited to this kind of problems, but for conservative equations (like nonlinear Schrödinger equations, KdV with some specific boundary conditions as in [31], [3] among other works), it is quite likely (and very often it has already been proved) that the controllability can be obtained in much lower regularity. Notice that even in this context, our result can be interesting if we are looking for a very regular control since the control we build is in some Gevrey class.

2.1. **The Korteweg-de Vries equation.** In this section, we are concerned with the controllability of the Korteweg-de Vries (KdV) equation:

$$\partial_t y = \partial_x^3 y + \partial_x y + y \partial_x y, \qquad x \in [0, 1], \quad t \in [0, T], \tag{2.1}$$

$$y(1,t) = h(t), t \in [0,T],$$
 (2.2)

$$y(0,t) = 0, t \in [0,T],$$
 (2.3)

$$\partial_x y(0,t) = 0, \qquad t \in [0,T], \tag{2.4}$$

$$y(x,0) = y^{0}(x), \quad x \in [0,1],$$
 (2.5)

which adapts to our abstract setting (1.1)-(1.3) with $N=1,\ M=3$ (hence $\lambda=3$), $P=\partial_x^3+\partial_x$ and $f(x,y,\partial_x y,\partial_x^2 y)=y\partial_x y$. Thus $Y^t=y$ and $Y^x=(y,\partial_x y,\partial_x^2 y)$. Note that the change of variables $x\to 1-x$ transforms (2.1) into the classical form of the KdV equation $\partial_t y+\partial_x^3 y+\partial_x y+y\partial_x y=0$, and (2.2)-(2.4) into the boundary conditions y(0,t)=h(t) and $y(1,t)=\partial_x y(1,t)=0$.

It is well-known [10, 31] that system (2.1)-(2.5) is null controllable, and also controllable to the trajectories. Due to the smoothing effect, an exact controllability cannot hold in $L^2(0,1)$. The reachable space for the linearized KdV equation $\partial_t y = \partial_x^3 y + \partial_x y$ supplemented with the boundary conditions (2.2)-(2.4) was described in [22].

By Theorem 1.2, for any T > 0 and any $R > \hat{R} := 12e^{(3e)^{-1}}$, there is some number $\hat{C} > 0$ such that for any $y^0, \tilde{y}^0 \in \mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}} \cap \mathcal{C}$, there exists a solution $y \in G^{1,3}([0,1] \times [0,T])$ of (2.1)-(2.5) satisfying $y(x,T) = \tilde{y}^0(x)$ for all $x \in [0,1]$. Let us now describe more precisely the set \mathcal{C} defined in (1.17). Denote $J_l = (J_{l,1}, J_{l,2}, J_{l,3})$. Recall that \mathcal{C} is given by the conditions $BJ_l(x, y_0, \partial_x y_0,, \partial_x^{m(l)} y_0)\Big|_{x=0} = 0$ for all $l \geq 0$, where $B = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. The following Lemma provides a more precise version of Lemma 1.1 adapted to KdV.

Lemma 2.1. For any $l \in \mathbb{N}$, m(l) = 3l + 2 and there exists a smooth map $H_l : \mathbb{R}^{3l-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$J_{l,1} = y_{3l} + H_l(y_0, y_1, ..., y_{3l-2}), (2.6)$$

$$J_{l,2} = y_{3l+1} + \sum_{i=0}^{3l-2} \frac{\partial H_l}{\partial y_i}(y_0, y_1, ..., y_{3l-2})y_{i+1}, \tag{2.7}$$

$$J_{l,3} = y_{3l+2} + \sum_{i=0}^{3l-2} \frac{\partial H_l}{\partial y_i}(y_0, y_1, ..., y_{3l-2})y_{i+2} + \sum_{i,j=0}^{3l-2} \frac{\partial^2 H_l}{\partial y_j \partial y_i}(y_0, y_1, ..., y_{3l-2})y_{j+1}y_{i+1}. \quad (2.8)$$

Proof. Clearly $J_{0,1} = y_0$, $J_{0,2} = y_1$, $J_{0,3} = y_2$, so that m(0) = 2 and $H_0 = 0$. From (2.1), we infer that

$$\partial_t \partial_x y = \partial_x^4 y + \partial_x^2 y + y \partial_x^2 y + (\partial_x y)^2,$$

$$\partial_t \partial_x^2 y = \partial_x^5 y + \partial_x^3 y + y \partial_x^3 y + 3 \partial_x y \partial_x^2 y.$$

Therefore m(1) = 5 with

$$J_{1,1} = y_3 + y_1 + y_0 y_1$$
, $J_{1,2} = y_4 + y_2 + y_0 y_2 + y_1^2$, $J_{1,3} = y_5 + y_3 + y_0 y_3 + 3y_1 y_2$.

Thus $H_1(y_0, y_1) = y_1 + y_0 y_1$. Assume now that m(l) = 3l + 2 and that (2.6)-(2.8) hold. Then

$$\begin{split} \partial_t^{l+1} y &= \partial_t J_{l,1}(x, y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{3l+2} y) \\ &= \partial_t \left(\partial_x^{3l} y + H_l(y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{3l-2} y) \right) \\ &= \partial_t \partial_x^{3l} y + \sum_{i=0}^{3l-2} \frac{\partial H_l}{\partial y_i} (y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{3l-2} y) \partial_t \partial_x^i y. \end{split}$$

Since

$$\partial_x^i(y\partial_x y) = \partial_x^{i+1}(\frac{y^2}{2}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=0}^{i+1} \binom{i+1}{k} \partial_x^k y \partial_x^{i+1-k} y,$$

we obtain

$$\partial_{t}^{l+1}y = \partial_{x}^{3l+3}y + \left(\partial_{x}^{3l+1}y + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k=0}^{3l+1} {3l+1 \choose k} \partial_{x}^{k}y \partial_{x}^{3l+1-k}y + \sum_{i=0}^{3l-2} \frac{\partial H_{l}}{\partial y_{i}}(y, \partial_{x}y, ..., \partial_{x}^{3l-2}y) \left(\partial_{x}^{i+3}y + \partial_{x}^{i+1}y + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{k=0}^{i+1} {i+1 \choose k} \partial_{x}^{k}y \partial_{x}^{i+1-k}y\right)\right). (2.9)$$

It follows that $J_{l+1,1} = y_{3l+3} + H_{l+1}(y_0, y_1, ..., y_{3l+1})$ with

$$H_{l+1} := y_{3l+1} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=0}^{3l+1} {3l+1 \choose k} y_k y_{3l+1-k}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=0}^{3l-2} \frac{\partial H_l}{\partial y_i} (y_0, y_1, ..., y_{3l-2}) (y_{i+3} + y_{i+1} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=0}^{i+1} {i+1 \choose k} y_k y_{i+1-k}).$$

Thus (2.6) holds at the step l+1. Taking the derivative in x in (2.9) gives (2.7) and (2.8) at the rank l+1. Finally m(l+1)=3l+5.

Thus C is the set of the functions $y_0 \in C^{\infty}([0,1])$ such that $J_{l,1} = J_{l,2} = 0$ for all $l \geq 0$, i.e.

$$y(0) = \partial_x y(0) = 0,$$

$$\partial_x^{3l} y(0) = -H_l(y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{3l-2} y) \Big|_{x=0}, \quad \forall l \in \mathbb{N}^*,$$

$$\partial_x^{3l+1} y(0) = -\left(\sum_{i=0}^{3l-2} \frac{\partial H_l}{\partial y_i}(y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{3l-2} y) \partial_x^{i+1} y\right) \Big|_{x=0} \quad \forall l \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$

Writing $y_0(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_n \frac{x^n}{n!}$, we obtain the following conditions for the coefficients α_n :

$$\alpha_0 = \alpha_1 = 0, \tag{2.10}$$

$$\alpha_{3l} = -H_l(\alpha_0, \alpha_1, ..., \alpha_{3l-2}), \quad \forall l \in \mathbb{N}^*, \tag{2.11}$$

$$\alpha_{3l+1} = -\sum_{i=0}^{3l-2} \frac{\partial H_l}{\partial y_i} (\alpha_0, \alpha_1, ..., \alpha_{3l-2}) \alpha_{i+1}, \quad \forall l \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$
 (2.12)

We conclude that

$$\mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}}\cap\mathcal{C} = \left\{z: [-1,1] \to \mathbb{C}: \ \exists (\alpha_n)_{n\geq 0} \in \mathcal{N}_{R,\hat{C}} \text{ such that } (2.10)\text{-}(2.12) \text{ hold and } \\ z(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_n \frac{x^n}{n!}, \ \forall x \in [-1,1] \right\}.$$

Remark 2. The condition

$$|\alpha_n| \le \hat{C} \frac{n!}{R^n} \tag{2.13}$$

has to be satisfied for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. It is likely (but still to be proved) that if (2.13) is satisfied for the subsequence $(\alpha_{3l+2})_{l\geq 0}$, eventually for a small constant \hat{C} , it is also satisfied for the whole sequence $(\alpha_n)_{n\geq 0}$ (the two other subsequences $(\alpha_{3l})_{l\geq 0}$ and $(\alpha_{3l+1})_{l\geq 0}$ being defined due to (2.10)-(2.12)). If it is indeed the case, then the coefficients α_{3l+2} ($l \in \mathbb{N}$) can be chosen "freely" provided that they satisfy (2.13), and hence the set $\mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}} \cap \mathcal{C}$ looks like a nonlinear submanifold.

Theorem 2.2. Let $R > \hat{R} := 12e^{(3e)^{-1}}$ and T > 0. Then there exists some number $\hat{C} > 0$ such that for all functions y^0 , $\tilde{y}^0 \in \mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}} \cap \mathcal{C}$, there exist functions $y \in G^{1,3}([0,1] \times [0,T])$ and $h \in G^3([0,T])$ satisfying (2.1)-(2.5) together with $y(x,T) = \tilde{y}^0(x)$ for all $x \in [0,1]$.

- 2.2. **Boussinesq equation.** We consider the issue of the exact controllability of two systems involving the (good or bad) Boussinesq equation.
- 2.2.1. Neumann boundary conditions. We first consider the system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 y &= \pm \partial_x^4 y + \partial_x^2 y - \partial_x^2 (y^2), & x \in [0, 1], \quad t \in [0, T], \\ \partial_x y(0, t) &= 0, & t \in [0, T], \\ \partial_x y(1, t) &= v(t), & t \in [0, T], \\ \partial_x^3 y(0, t) &= 0, & t \in [0, T], \\ \partial_x^3 y(1, t) &= w(t), & t \in [0, T], \\ y(x, 0) &= y^0(x), & x \in [0, 1], \\ y_t(x, 0) &= y^1(x), & x \in [0, 1]. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.14)$$

If the sign in \pm is +, the first equation in (2.14) is called the *bad Boussinesq equation* which is known to be severely ill-posed, even for the linear part. It would therefore be difficult to obtain any controllability result with the standard methods. We shall obtain the following exact controllability result.

Theorem 2.3. Let $R > \hat{R} := 16e^{(2e)^{-1}}$ and T > 0. Then there exists some number $\hat{C} > 0$ such that for all pairs of functions (y^0, y^1) , $(\tilde{y}^0, \tilde{y}^1) \in (\mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}})^2$ which are even with respect to 0, there exist functions $y \in G^{1,2}([0,1] \times [0,T])$ and $v, w \in G^2([0,T])$ satisfying (2.14) together with $y(x,T) = \tilde{y}^0(x)$ and $y_t(x,T) = \tilde{y}^1(x)$ for all $x \in [0,1]$.

Proof of Theorem 2.3. We apply Theorem 1.2 together with Proposition 1.3 with $\lambda = 4/2 = 2$. Note that the control inputs v, w are just taken as traces of the constructed solution $y \in G^{1,2}([0,1] \times [0,T])$. The regularity of v, w then follows from (1.15).

We need to check that the non-linearity satisfies the right assumption. Since $\partial_x^2(y^2) = 2(y\partial_x^2 y + (\partial_x y)^2)$, the non-linearity reads $f(x, y_0, y_1, y_2, y_3) = -2(y_0y_2 + y_1^2)$. As

$$f(-x, y_0, -y_1, y_2, -y_3) = -2(y_0y_2 + (-y_1)^2) = f(x, y_0, y_1, y_2, y_3),$$

we see that condition (1.19) in Proposition 1.3 is fulfilled. Finally, we notice that for any function $h \in \mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}}$, h is even if and only if $\partial_x^{2j+1}h(0) = 0$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

2.2.2. Dirichlet boundary conditions. If we keep the non-linearity $f(x, y, \partial_x y, \partial_x^2 y, \partial_x^3 y) = -\partial_x^2(y^2)$, then

$$f(-x, -y_0, y_1, -y_2, y_3) = -2(y_0y_2 + y_1^2) = f(x, y_0, y_1, y_2, y_3),$$

so that condition (1.18) in Proposition 1.3 is not fulfilled. Theorem 1.2 may be applied, but the determination of the compatibility set \mathcal{C} is not obvious.

We consider instead a different non-linearity, namely $f(x, y, \partial_x y, \partial_x^2 y, \partial_x^3 y) = -\partial_x(y^2)$. More precisely, we consider the system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t^2 y &= \pm \partial_x^4 y + \partial_x^2 y - \partial_x (y^2), & x \in [0,1], \quad t \in [0,T], \\ y(0,t) &= 0, & t \in [0,T], \\ y(1,t) &= v(t), & t \in [0,T], \\ \partial_x^2 y(0,t) &= 0, & t \in [0,T], \\ \partial_x^2 y(1,t) &= w(t), & t \in [0,T], \\ y(x,0) &= y^0(x), & x \in [0,1], \\ y_t(x,0) &= y^1(x), & x \in [0,1]. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.15)$$

Theorem 2.4. Let $R > \hat{R} := 16e^{(2e)^{-1}}$ and T > 0. Then there exists some number $\hat{C} > 0$ such that for all pairs of functions (y^0, y^1) , $(\widetilde{y}^0, \widetilde{y}^1) \in (\mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}})^2$ which are odd with respect to 0, there exist functions $y \in G^{1,2}([0,1] \times [0,T])$ and $v, w \in G^2([0,T])$ satisfying (2.15) together with $y(x,T) = \widetilde{y}^0(x)$ and $y_t(x,T) = \widetilde{y}^1(x)$ for all $x \in [0,1]$.

Proof of Theorem 2.4. The proof is the same as for Theorem 2.3. Since $\partial_x(y^2) = 2y\partial_x y$, the non-linearity reads $f(x, y_0, y_1, y_2, y_3) = -2y_0y_1$. From

$$f(-x, -y_0, y_1, -y_2, y_3) = 2y_0y_1 = -f(x, y_0, y_1, y_2, y_3),$$

we infer that condition (1.18) in Proposition 1.3 is fulfilled. As a function $h \in \mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}}$ is odd if and only if $\partial_x^{2j}h(0) = 0$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$, the conclusion follows at once.

2.3. The complex Ginzburg-Landau equation. We are concerned with the controllability of the complex Ginzburg-Landau equation with parameters $\theta, \varphi \in \mathbb{R}$. We begin with the control problem with Dirichlet boundary conditions:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t y &= e^{i\theta} \partial_x^2 y + e^{i\varphi} |y|^2 y, & x \in [0,1], \quad t \in [0,T], \\ y(0,t) &= 0, & t \in [0,T], \\ y(1,t) &= v(t), & t \in [0,T], \\ y(x,0) &= y^0(x) & x \in [0,1]. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.16)$$

Theorem 2.5. Let $R > \hat{R} := 8e^{(2e)^{-1}}$ and T > 0. Then there exists some number $\hat{C} > 0$ such that for all functions y^0 , $\tilde{y}^0 \in \mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}}$ which are odd with respect to 0, there exist $y \in G^{1,2}([0,1] \times [0,T])$ and $v \in G^2([0,T])$ satisfying (2.16) together with $y(x,T) = \tilde{y}^0(x)$ for all $x \in [0,1]$.

The control problem with Neumann boundary conditions reads

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t y = e^{i\theta} \partial_x^2 y + e^{i\varphi} |y|^2 y, & x \in [0,1], \quad t \in [0,T], \\
\partial_x y(0,t) = 0, & t \in [0,T], \\
\partial_x y(1,t) = v(t), & t \in [0,T], \\
y(x,0) = y^0(x) & x \in [0,1].
\end{cases} (2.17)$$

Theorem 2.6. Let $R > \hat{R} := 8e^{(2e)^{-1}}$ and T > 0. Then there exists some number $\hat{C} > 0$ such that for all functions y^0 , $\widetilde{y}^0 \in \mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}}$ which are even with respect to 0, there exist $y \in G^{1,2}([0,1] \times [0,T])$ and $v \in G^2([0,T])$ satisfying (2.17) together with $y(x,T) = \widetilde{y}^0(x)$ for all $x \in [0,1]$.

The proof follows the previous cases closely, except that they are complex-valued functions and the nonlinearity $|y|^2y = y^2\overline{y}$ cannot be written as a sum (finite or infinite) of powers of the variable y. We describe in Section 7 the modifications that must be performed to get the expected result.

Remark 3. It might seem problematic to use the nonlinearity $f(z) = |z|^2 z$ which is not holomorphic. The solution we construct satisfies $y(\cdot,t) \in \mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}}$, which means that it is real analytic on [-1,1] for any $t \in [0,T]$, in the sense that it agrees with its Taylor expansion at 0, which is enough for the proof we are doing. Indeed, as noticed in Lemma 6.1, it implies that it has a holomorphic extension $z \mapsto y(z,t)$ for $z \in B_{\mathbb{C}}(0,\tilde{R})$ for some $\tilde{R} > 0$. The application $x \in [-1,1] \mapsto |y(x,t)|^2 y(x,t)$ is also real analytic and also has a holomorphic extension. Yet, this extension does not coincide with $|y(z,t)|^2 y(z,t)$. In particular, the solution can be extended to $B_{\mathbb{C}}(0,\tilde{R}) \times [0,T]$ but it is not clear what equation it satisfies on this set. We only know that the solution satisfies the Ginzburg-Landau equation on $[-1,1] \times [0,T]$.

2.4. **The Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation.** We investigate the controllability of the Kuramoto-Sivashinsky (KS) equation with boundary conditions of Dirichlet type:

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t y &= -\partial_x^4 y - \partial_x^2 y - y \partial_x y, & x \in [0, 1], & t \in [0, T], \\
y(0, t) &= 0, & t \in [0, T], \\
y(1, t) &= v(t), & t \in [0, T], \\
\partial_x^2 y(0, t) &= 0, & t \in [0, T], \\
\partial_x^2 y(1, t) &= w(t), & t \in [0, T], \\
y(x, 0) &= y^0(x), & x \in [0, 1].
\end{cases}$$
(2.18)

Theorem 2.7. Let $R > \hat{R} = 16e^{(4e)^{-1}}$ and T > 0. Then there exists some number $\hat{C} > 0$ such that for all functions y^0 , $\tilde{y}^0 \in \mathcal{R}_{R,\hat{C}}$ which are odd with respect to 0, there exist functions $y \in G^{1,4}([0,1] \times [0,T])$ and $v,w \in G^4([0,T])$ satisfying (2.18) together with $y(x,T) = \tilde{y}^0(x)$ for all $x \in [0,1]$.

Proof of Theorem 2.7. For $\lambda = 4/1 = 4$, and the non-linearity reads as $f(x, y_0, y_1, y_2, y_3) =$ $-y_0y_1$. It satisfies

$$f(-x, -y_0, y_1, -y_2, y_3) = y_0 y_1 = -f(x, y_0, y_1, y_2, y_3),$$

which is condition (1.19) in Proposition 1.3.

The null controllability for the Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation has been already studied in [1, 2, 12, 18, for different combinations of boundary data, and in the cases where boundary setting agrees with the setting of (1.2), our results are consistent with the known results. However, the critical set of parameters of diffusion appears only in cases when only one control is considered, which is not the case in this paper.

2.5. The case of a linear PDE with constant coefficients.

Proposition 2.8. Assume f = 0 (linear PDE with constant coefficients). Then

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ Y_0 = (y_0, y_1, ..., y_{N-1}) \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])^N; \quad (BP^k Y^{x, l})(0) = 0, \ \forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall l = 0, ..., N-1 \right\}$$

where we have denoted $Y^{x,l} := (y_l, \dots, \partial_r^{M-1} y_l)$ as in (1.4).

Proof. Using Euclidian division, we are led to compute the application J_{Nk+l} defined in Lemma

(1.1) for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and l = 0, ..., N - 1. We infer from (1.1) that $\partial_t^{Nk+l}\partial_x^i y = P^k\partial_t^l\partial_x^i y$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, l = 0, ..., N - 1 and $i \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular, $\partial_t^{Nk+l}Y^x = P^k\partial_t^lY^x$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, l = 0, ..., N - 1, we can define a linear map $J_{Nk+l}: (\mathbb{R}^N)^{(k+1)M} \to \mathbb{R}^M$ such that

$$J_{Nk+l}(Y_0(0), \cdots, \partial_x^{(k+1)M-1} Y_0(0)) = (P^k y_l, P^k \partial_x y_l, \dots, P^k \partial_x^{M-1} y_l)(0),$$

for any $Y_0 = (y_0, y_1, ..., y_{N-1}) \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])^N$ (denoting $y_0 = y$, $y_l = \partial_t^l y_0$ for $1 \le l \le N - 1$). Moreover, for a solution of the equation with initial datum Y_0 , we have

$$(P^{k}y_{l}, P^{k}\partial_{x}y_{l}, \dots, P^{k}\partial_{x}^{M-1}y_{l})(0) = P^{k}Y^{x,l}(0).$$
(2.19)

The previous computation gives $\partial_t^{Nk+l}Y^x(0) = J_{Nk+l}(Y_0(0), \cdots, \partial_x^{(k+1)M-1}Y_0(0))$. Therefore, the application J_{Nk+l} by (2.19) satisfies the property (1.1) for all solutions. Then, using the uniqueness of the operators J_l (up to adding unnecessary variables) proved in Lemma 4.17, we conclude that it is the expected application.

In particular,
$$BJ_{Nk+l}(Y_0(0), \dots, \partial_x^{(k+1)M-1}Y_0(0)) = 0$$
 is equivalent to $BP^kY^{x,l}(0) = 0$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $l = 0, \dots, N-1$.

3. Cauchy problem in the space variable

3.1. Statement of the global wellposedness result. Let $f = f(x, y_0, y_1, \dots, y_{M-1})$ be as in (1.7)-(1.10). We are concerned with the wellposedness of the Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t^N y = Py + f(x, y, ..., \partial_x^{M-1} y), & x \in [-1, 1], t \in [t_1, t_2], \\
\partial_x^i y(0, t) = k_i(t), & 0 \le i \le M - 1, \quad t \in [t_1, t_2]
\end{cases}$$
(3.1)

for some given functions $k_0, ..., k_{M-1} \in G^{\lambda}([t_1, t_2])$. We denote $K_0 = (k_0, ..., k_{M-1})$. Note that the initial conditions of (3.1) can be written as $Y^x(0, t) = K_0(t)$.

The goal of this section is to prove the following result.

Theorem 3.1. Let P be as in (1.6) and $f = f(x, \vec{y})$ be as in (1.7)-(1.10). Let $-\infty < t_1 < t_2 < +\infty$ and $R > (4N)^{\lambda}$, where $\lambda = M/N$. Then there exists some numbers C > 0, Q > 0, R_1, R_2 with $4Me^{-1/M} < R_1 < R_2$ satisfying that for all $K_0 = (k_0, \ldots, k_{M-1}) \in G^{\lambda}([t_1, t_2])^M$ with

$$|k_i^{(n)}(t)| \le C \left(\frac{|\zeta_M|^{1/N}}{R}\right)^n (n!)^{\lambda}, \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, M - 1, \ n \ge 0, \ t \in [t_1, t_2],$$
 (3.2)

there exists a solution $y \in G^{1,\lambda}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ of (3.1) satisfying,

$$|\partial_x^{p_1} \partial_t^{p_2} y(x,t)| \le Q \frac{(p_1 + \lambda p_2)!}{R_1^{p_1} R_2^{\lambda p_2}} |\zeta_M|^{p_2/N}, \quad (x,t) \in [-1,1] \times [t_1, t_2], \ (p_1, p_2) \in \mathbb{N}^2.$$
 (3.3)

The proof of Theorem 3.1 will be given after that some preliminary results are established. We use the notation $x! = \Gamma(x+1)$ even if x is not an integer.

Remark 4. It is sufficient to prove Theorem 3.1 for the unidimensional system (3.1), i.e Considering $|\zeta_M| = 1$ and $[t_1, t_2] = [0, t_2]$. Indeed, the equation $\partial_t^N y = Py + f(x, y, \dots, \partial_x^{M-1} y)$ is invariant by translation in time, so that we can assume that $[t_1, t_2] = [0, t_2]$. On the other hand, if $|\zeta_M| \in (0, +\infty) \setminus \{1\}$, we can use the following scaling argument. Set $\widetilde{\zeta}_M := \zeta_M/|\zeta_M|$, $\widetilde{P} := |\zeta_M|^{-1}P$ and $\widetilde{f} := |\zeta_M|^{-1}f$. Note that \widetilde{P} and \widetilde{f} satisfy the expected assumptions with $|\widetilde{\zeta}_M| = 1$. For K_0 satisfying (3.2) on $[0, t_2]$, define $\widetilde{K}_0(t) := K_0(|\zeta_M|^{-1/N}t)$. Then \widetilde{K}_0 satisfies (3.2) with $|\widetilde{\zeta}_M| = 1$, that is $|\widetilde{k}_i^{(n)}(t)| \le C \frac{(n!)^{\lambda}}{R^n}$ on $[0, |\zeta_M|^{1/N}t_2]$. This allows to define a solution $\widetilde{y}(x,t)$ of (3.1) for $x \in [-1,1]$ and $t \in [0, |\zeta_M|^{-1/N}t_2]$ associated with \widetilde{P} , \widetilde{f} and \widetilde{K}_0 . Then the function

$$y(x,t) := \widetilde{y}(x, |\zeta_M|^{\frac{1}{N}}t), \qquad x \in [-1, 1], \ t \in [0, t_2]$$

is a solution of (3.1) associated with P, f and K_0 .

3.2. Abstract existence theorem. We consider a family of Banach spaces $(X_s)_{s \in [0,1]}$ satisfying for $0 \le s' \le s \le 1$,

$$X_s \subset X_{s'},$$
 (3.4)

$$||f||_{X_{s}} \le ||f||_{X_{s}}; \tag{3.5}$$

that is, the embedding $X_s \subset X_{s'}$ for $s' \leq s$.

We are concerned with an abstract Cauchy problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_x U(x) = \mathrm{T}(x) U(x), & -1 \le x \le 1, \\ U(0) = U^0 \end{cases}$$

where $U^0 \in X_1$ and $(T(x))_{x \in [-1,1]}$ is a family of nonlinear operators with possible loss of derivatives.

The following result, taken from [20, Theorem 2.2], is a global well-posedness result. It extends the abstract result in [28, 29] which gives only *local* solutions.

Theorem 3.2. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/4)$, D > 0 and a family $(T(x))_{x \in [-1,1]}$ of nonlinear maps from X_s to $X_{s'}$ for $0 \le s' < s \le 1$ satisfying

$$\|T(x)U\|_{X_{s'}} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{s-s'} \|U\|_{X_s},$$
 (3.6)

$$\|\mathbf{T}(x)U - \mathbf{T}(x)V\|_{X_{s'}} \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{s - s'} \|U - V\|_{X_s}$$
(3.7)

for $0 \le s' < s \le 1$, $x \in [-1,1]$ and $U,V \in X_s$ with $\|U\|_{X_s} \le D$, $\|V\|_{X_s} \le D$. Then there exists a number $0 < \eta \le D$ such that for any $U^0 \in X_1$ with $\|U^0\|_{X_1} \le \eta$, there exists a solution $U \in C([-1,1],X_{s_0})$ for some $s_0 \in (0,1)$ of the integral equation

$$U(x) = U^{0} + \int_{0}^{x} T(\tau)U(\tau)d\tau. \tag{3.8}$$

Moreover, we have the estimate

$$||U(x)||_{X_s} \le C_1 \left(1 - \frac{\alpha|x|}{a_{\infty}(1-s)}\right)^{-1} ||U^0||_{X_1}, \quad \text{for } 0 \le s < 1, \ |x| < \frac{a_{\infty}}{\alpha}(1-s),$$

where $\alpha \in (0,1)$, $a_{\infty} \in (\alpha,1)$ and $C_1 > 0$ are some constants. In particular, we have

$$||U(x)||_{X_s} \le C_1 \left(1 - \frac{2}{\frac{a_{\infty}}{\alpha} + 1}\right)^{-1} ||U^0||_{X_1}, \text{ for } 0 \le s \le s_0 = \frac{1}{2} (1 - \frac{\alpha}{a_{\infty}}), |x| \le 1.$$

If, in addition, we assume that

for all $U_0 \in X_s$ with $||U_0||_{X_s} \leq D$, the map $\tau \in [-1, 1] \to T(\tau)U_0 \in X_{s'}$ is continuous, (3.9) then U is the classical solution of

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_x U(x) &= \operatorname{T}(x)U(x), & -1 \le x \le 1, \\
U(0) &= U^0.
\end{cases}$$
(3.10)

Note that we slightly changed the order of the quantifiers for D to the original statement in [20, Theorem 2.2]. The result is a direct consequence of [20, Proposition 2.3.] where the quantifiers are written this way.

3.3. Gevrey type functional spaces. We define several λ Gevrey spaces for $\lambda > 1$ (see [16, 35]) and we follow closely the ideas developed in [20] for the heat equation. We shall take $\lambda = M/N$, but for the moment we stay in the generality.

We introduce a variant of the Gamma function of Euler with a parameter $a \in \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$\Gamma_{\lambda,a}(k) = \begin{cases} 2^{-5} (\Gamma(k+1-a))^{\lambda} (1+k)^{-2}, & k \in \mathbb{N}, \ k > |a|+1, \\ \Gamma_{\lambda}(k), & k \in \mathbb{N}, \ 0 \le k \le |a|+1 \end{cases}$$
(3.11)

with

$$\Gamma_{\lambda}(k) = 2^{-5} (k!)^{\lambda} (1+k)^{-2},$$
(3.12)

and Γ being the usual Gamma function of Euler which is increasing on $[2, +\infty)$.

Clearly, $\Gamma_{\lambda,0} = \Gamma_{\lambda}$. Note that for k > |a| + 1, we have $k + 1 - a \ge 2$ and $k + 1 \ge 2$, so we are in an interval where Γ is increasing. Thus we have for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\Gamma_{\lambda,a}(k) \le \Gamma_{\lambda}(k), \quad \text{if } a \ge 0,$$
(3.13)

$$\Gamma_{\lambda}(k) \le \Gamma_{\lambda,a}(k), \quad \text{if } a \le 0.$$
 (3.14)

For any L > 0, we consider the intermediate space of functions in $C^{\infty}(K)$ (where $K = [t_1, t_2]$ with $-\infty < t_1 < t_2 < \infty$) such that

$$|u|_{L,a}:=\sup_{t\in K,k\in\mathbb{N}}\frac{\left|u^{(k)}(t)\right|}{L^{|k-a|}\Gamma_{\lambda,a}(k)}<\infty.$$

Note that for a = 0, we recover the spaces defined earlier in [35], and $|u|_{L,0} = |u|_{L}$.

Definition 2. We consider the norm defined in [35] by Yamanaka

$$||u||_L := \max \left\{ 2^6 ||u||_{L^{\infty}(K)}, 2^3 L^{-1} |u'|_L \right\},$$

and similarly, we define for $a \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\|u\|_{L,a}:=\max\left\{2^{6}\left\|u\right\|_{L^{\infty}(K)},2^{3}L^{-1}\left|u'\right|_{L,a}\right\}.$$

For L > 0 and $0 \le a_1 < a_2$, we have

$$||u||_{L,a_1} \le C(L, a_1, a_2, \lambda) ||u||_{L,a_2} \quad \forall u \in G_{L,a_2}^{\lambda}.$$
 (3.15)

Indeed, for $k > a_2 + 1$, we have $k + 1 - a_1 \ge k + 1 - a_2 \ge 2$ where Γ is increasing so that $\Gamma(k+1-a_2) \le \Gamma(k+1-a_1)$, and therefore $L^{|k-a_2|}\Gamma_{\lambda,a_2}(k) \le L^{a_1-a_2}L^{|k-a_1|}\Gamma_{\lambda,a_1}(k)$. We can obtain a similar inequality for $k \le a_2 + 1$ with different constant which gives then (3.15).

We define the Banach spaces $G_{L,a}^{\lambda}$ and G_{L}^{λ} as

$$G_{L,a}^{\lambda} := \{ u \in C^{\infty}(K) \text{ such that } \|u\|_{L,a} < \infty \}$$
(3.16)

and

$$G_L^{\lambda} := \{ u \in C^{\infty}(K) \text{ such that } \|u\|_L < \infty \}.$$
 (3.17)

The space $G_{L,a}^{\lambda}$ can be seen as the space of functions Gevrey λ with radius L^{-1} with a derivatives. Roughly, we could think that $u \in G_{L,a}^{\lambda}$ if $D^a u \in G_L^{\lambda}$, even if it is not completely true if $a \notin \mathbb{N}$. Note that, as a direct consequence of (3.13)-(3.14), we have the embeddings $G_{L,a}^{\lambda} \subset G_L^{\lambda}$ if $a \geq 0$ and $G_L^{\lambda} \subset G_{L,a}^{\lambda}$ if $a \leq 0$, together with the inequalities

$$||u||_{L} \le \max(L^{a}, L^{-a}) ||u||_{L,a}, \text{ if } a \ge 0,$$
 (3.18)

$$||u||_{L,a} \le \max(L^a, L^{-a}) ||u||_L, \text{ if } a \le 0.$$
 (3.19)

Furthermore, for any $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and 0 < L < L', we have the embedding $G_{L,a}^{\lambda} \subset G_{L',a}^{\lambda}$ with

$$||u||_{L',a} \le ||u||_{L,a} \,. \tag{3.20}$$

The following result [36, Theorem 5.4] will be used several times in the sequel.

Lemma 3.3. (Algebra property) For L > 0

$$||uv||_{L} \le ||u||_{L} ||v||_{L} \quad \forall u, v \in G_{L}^{\lambda}.$$
 (3.21)

The following result [20, Lemma 2.6] is a variant of [16, Proposition 2.3] with spaces containing non-integer "derivatives".

Lemma 3.4 (Cost of derivatives for Gevrey spaces containing derivatives). Let $\lambda > 0$ and $\delta > 0$. Let $q \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ with d = q - a + b > 0. Then there exists some number $C = C(\lambda, \delta, a, b, q) > 0$ such that for all L > 0, $\alpha > 1$ and $u \in G_{L,a}^{\lambda}$, we have

$$\left| u^{(q)} \right|_{\alpha L, b} \le \left(C(L^{-d} + L^d) + (1 + \delta)\alpha^b L^d \left(\frac{\lambda d}{e \ln \alpha} \right)^{\lambda d} \right) |u|_{L, a} \tag{3.22}$$

and hence

$$\left\| u^{(q)} \right\|_{\alpha L, b} \le \left(C(L^{-d} + \langle L \rangle^C) + (1 + \delta)\alpha^b L^d \left(\frac{\lambda d}{e \ln \alpha} \right)^{\lambda d} \right) \left\| u \right\|_{L, a}. \tag{3.23}$$

where we denote $\langle x \rangle := \sqrt{1+x^2}$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$.

3.4. Application to the semi-linear PDE. We write our system in the equivalent form

$$\begin{cases} \partial_x^M u = \frac{1}{\zeta_M} \left(\partial_t^N u - \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \zeta_j \partial_x^j u - f(x, u, \partial_x u, ..., \partial_x^{M-1} u) \right), & x \in [-1, 1], \ t \in [t_1, t_2], \\ U^x(0, t) = K_0(t), & t \in [t_1, t_2], \end{cases}$$
(3.24)

recalling $U^x(x,t) = (u(x,t), \partial_x u(x,t), ..., \partial_x^{M-1} u(x,t))$ and $K_0 := (k_0(t), ..., k_{M-1}(t))$. $|\zeta_M| = 1$ will be considered in this section, for more detailed see Remark 4.

We write (3.24) as a first-order system

$$\partial_x U = AU + F(x, U), \tag{3.25}$$

$$U(0) = K_0 (3.26)$$

with $U = U^x = (u, \partial_x u, \cdots, \partial_x^{M-1} u)$

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \\ \zeta_M^{-1}(\partial_t^N - \zeta_0) & -\zeta_M^{-1}\zeta_1 & \dots & -\zeta_M^{-1}\zeta_{M-2} & -\zeta_M^{-1}\zeta_{M-1} \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.27)

and

$$F(x, \vec{u}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ -\zeta_M^{-1} f(x, \vec{u}) \end{pmatrix},$$

where the current vector $\vec{u} := (u_0, u_1, \dots, u_{M-1})$ will contain the derivatives. We decompose A

$$A = A_0 + A_R$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \\ \zeta_M^{-1} \partial_t^N & 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -\zeta_M^{-1} \zeta_0 & -\zeta_M^{-1} \zeta_1 & \dots & -\zeta_M^{-1} \zeta_{M-2} & -\zeta_M^{-1} \zeta_{M-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let L > 0, we define the space

$$\mathcal{X}_L := \{ U = (u_0, u_1, \dots, u_{M-1}) \in G_{L, \frac{M-1}{\lambda}}^{\lambda} \times \dots \times G_{L, \frac{1}{\lambda}}^{\lambda} \times G_L^{\lambda} \}$$
 (3.28)

with the norm

$$||U||_{\mathcal{X}_L} = ||(u_0, u_1, \dots, u_{M-1})||_{\mathcal{X}_L} = ||u_0||_{L, \frac{M-1}{\lambda}} + \dots + ||u_{M-1}||_L = \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} ||u_j||_{L, \frac{M-j-1}{\lambda}},$$

where the norms are those defined in Definition 2 with $\lambda = M/N$. Note that u_0 is more regular than u_1 of " $1/\lambda$ derivative". In particular, using that $|\zeta_M| = 1$, we have that

$$||A_0U||_{\mathcal{X}_L} = \sum_{j=1}^{M-1} ||u_j||_{L,\frac{M-j}{\lambda}} + ||\partial_t^N u_0||_L.$$

In the following result, L_1 stands for the inverse of the radius R of the initial datum.

Theorem 3.5. Pick any L_1 with $0 < L_1 < \frac{1}{(4N)^{\lambda}}$. Then there exists a number $\eta > 0$ such that for any $K_0 \in \mathcal{X}_{L_1}$ with $||K_0||_{\mathcal{X}_{L_1}} \leq \eta$, there exists a solution to (3.24)in $C([-1,1], \mathcal{X}_{L_0})$ for some $L_0 > 0$.

Proof. In order to apply Theorem 3.2, we introduce a scale of Banach spaces $(X_s)_{s\in[0,1]}$ as follows, for $s \in [0, 1]$, we set

$$||U||_{X_s} = e^{-\tau(1-s)} ||U||_{\mathcal{X}_{L(s)}} \quad \text{for } U \in X_s := \mathcal{X}_{L(s)}$$

$$(3.29)$$

$$||U||_{X_s} = e^{\tau(1-s)} I.$$

$$L(s) = e^{r(1-s)}L_1, (3.30)$$

where

$$r = 1/N$$

and $\tau > 0$ will be chosen thereafter. Note that (3.5) is satisfied from (3.20) and the fact that L(s') > L(s) for s' < s. Additionally, we have that

$$||U||_{X_{s'}} \le e^{-\tau(s-s')} ||U||_{X_s}. \tag{3.31}$$

The use of Lemmas 3.6, 3.7 and 3.8 will allow us to select the parameters such that T =A+F satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 3.2. Then, we only need to notice that $||K_0||_{X_1}=$ $||K_0||_{\mathcal{X}_{L_1}} \leq D \text{ for } \eta = D \text{ small.}$

Remark 5. It is interesting to notice that for Theorem 3.5, we use the analytic regularity of f in the variables u_0, \ldots, u_{M-1} , but only the continuity of f in x. The analyticity of f in x, u_0, \ldots, u_{M-1} will be used to prove the additional regularity of the solution in the variable x. Also, as noticed in Section 7 concerning the Ginzburg-Landau equation, the same result holds for a polynomial function of $u_0, \overline{u_0}, \ldots, u_{M-1}, \overline{u_{M-1}}$. The crucial part for the existence is the composition of Gevrey functions.

Lemma 3.6. Let $L_1 < \frac{1}{(4N)^{\lambda}}$. There exist $\tau_0 > 0$ (large enough) and $\varepsilon_0 < 1/4$ such that we have the estimates

$$||A_0U||_{X_{s'}} \le \frac{\varepsilon_0}{s-s'} ||U||_{X_s}, \quad \forall U \in X_s,$$

for all $\tau \geq \tau_0$ (as in (3.29)) and all s, s' with $0 \leq s' < s \leq 1$.

Proof. By assumption, $NL_1^{1/\lambda} < 1/4$. Pick $\delta > 0$ small enough such that

$$(1+\delta)NL_1^{1/\lambda} < 1/4, (3.32)$$

applying Lemma 3.4 to the M-1-first terms of A_0U (namely $u_1,...,u_{M-1}$) for $\lambda=M/N$ and taking $q=0,\ b=\frac{M-j}{\lambda}$ and $a=\frac{M-j-1}{\lambda}$, so that $d=\frac{1}{\lambda}>0$, we obtain the existence of some number $C=C_\delta>0$ such that for j=1,...,M-1

$$\|u_j\|_{\alpha L, \frac{M-j}{\lambda}} \leq \left(C(L^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}} + \langle L \rangle^C) + \frac{1+\delta}{e \ln \alpha} \alpha^{\frac{M-1}{\lambda}} L^{1/\lambda}\right) \|u_j\|_{L, \frac{M-j-1}{\lambda}}, \quad \text{ for } \alpha > 1 \quad \text{and} \quad L > 0.$$

For the last term of A_0U (namely $\zeta_M^{-1}\partial_t^N u_0$) with $\lambda=M/N$ and $\delta>0$, (3.32) is satisfied, and considering now $q=N,\,b=0,\,a=\frac{M-1}{\lambda},$ so $d=\frac{1}{\lambda}>0$, we obtain the existence of some number $C=C_\delta>0$ such that

$$\left\|\partial_t^N u_0\right\|_{\alpha L} \le \left(C(L^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}} + \langle L \rangle^C) + \frac{1+\delta}{e \ln \alpha} L^{1/\lambda}\right) \left\|u_0\right\|_{L,\frac{M-1}{\lambda}}.$$

It gives after summation

$$||A_0 U||_{\mathcal{X}_{\alpha L}} \leq \left(C(L^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}} + \langle L \rangle^C) + \frac{1+\delta}{e \ln \alpha} \alpha^{\frac{M-1}{\lambda}} L^{1/\lambda} \right) ||U||_{\mathcal{X}_L}, \tag{3.33}$$

uniformly for $\alpha > 1$ and L > 0.

Therefore, from equation (3.29), (3.30), (3.31) and considering the estimate (3.33) with L = L(s), $\alpha = \frac{L(s')}{L(s)} = e^{r(s-s')} > 1$ and s' < s. Hence, for $0 \le s' < s \le 1$,

$$||A_{0}U||_{X_{s'}} \leq e^{-\tau(s-s')} \left(C(L_{1}^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}} + \langle e^{r}L_{1} \rangle^{C}) + (1+\delta) \frac{e^{\frac{M-1}{\lambda}r(s-s')}e^{r\frac{1-s}{\lambda}}L_{1}^{1/\lambda}}{er(s-s')} \right) ||U||_{X_{s}}$$

$$\leq \left(Ce^{-\tau(s-s')}(L_{1}^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}} + e^{rC}) + (1+\delta)e^{rN} \frac{L_{1}^{1/\lambda}}{er(s-s')} \right) ||U||_{X_{s}}$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{e^{-1}}{\tau(s-s')}C(L_{1}^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}} + e^{rC}) + (1+\delta) \frac{e^{rN}L_{1}^{1/\lambda}}{er(s-s')} \right) ||U||_{X_{s}}$$

$$(3.34)$$

where we have used $0 < s - s' \le 1$, $0 < L_1 < 1/4$ and

$$e^{-\tau(s-s')} = \frac{\tau(s-s')e^{-\tau(s-s')}}{\tau(s-s')} \le \frac{e^{-1}}{\tau(s-s')},\tag{3.35}$$

since $te^{-t} \leq e^{-1}$ for $t \geq 0$. Minimizing the constant in the second term of the right hand side of (3.34) leads to the choice r = 1/N. (Note that the initial space $X_1 = \mathcal{X}_{L_1}$ is independent of the choice of r.) We arrive at the estimate

$$||A_0 U||_{X_{s'}} \le \left(\frac{Ce^{-1}(L_1^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}} + e^{C/N})}{\tau} + (1+\delta)NL_1^{1/\lambda}\right) \frac{1}{s-s'} ||U||_{X_s}.$$

By (3.32), selecting τ_0 large enough so that $\varepsilon_0 := \frac{Ce^{-1}(L_1^{-\frac{1}{\lambda}} + e^{C/N})}{\tau_0} + (1+\delta)NL_1^{1/\lambda} < 1/4$. This completes the proof of Lemma 3.6.

Lemma 3.7. Let $\varepsilon > 0$, $r = \frac{1}{N}$ and $L_1 > 0$. There exists $\tau_0 > 0$ such that we have the estimates

$$||A_R U||_{X_{s'}} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{s-s'} ||U||_{X_s} \quad \forall U \in X_s,$$

for all $\tau \geq \tau_0$ and all s, s' with $0 \leq s' < s \leq 1$.

Proof. Using (3.18), we first get that there exists C > 0 (depending on all the previous constants $L_1, M,...$) such that for $L \in [L_1, e^r L_1]$, $(|\zeta_M| = 1)$,

$$||A_R U||_{\mathcal{X}_L} = |\zeta_M|^{-1} \left\| \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \zeta_j u_j \right\|_{L} \le \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} ||\zeta_j u_j||_{L} \le C \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} ||u_j||_{L, \frac{M-j-1}{\lambda}} = C ||U||_{\mathcal{X}_L}. \quad (3.36)$$

Applying the previous estimate to L = L(s') and using (3.29) and (3.35), we obtain

$$||A_R U||_{X_{s'}} = e^{-\tau(1-s')} ||A_R U||_{\mathcal{X}_{L(s')}} \le$$

$$Ce^{-\tau(1-s')} \|U\|_{\mathcal{X}_{L(s')}} = Ce^{-\tau(s-s')} \|U\|_{X_{s'}} \le C\frac{e^{-1}}{\tau(s-s')} \|U\|_{X_s}.$$

It gives the result for τ_0 large enough.

Lemma 3.8. Let f be as in (1.7)-(1.10), and let $F(x,U) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -f(x,u_0,u_1,\ldots,u_{M-1}) \end{pmatrix}$ for $x \in [-1,1]$ and $U = (u_0,u_1,\ldots,u_{M-1}) \in L^{\infty}(K)^M$ with $\sup_{i=0,\ldots,M-1}(\|u_i\|_{L^{\infty}(K)}) < 4$. Let r = 1/N, $L_1 > 0$, and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exists $\tau_0 > 0$ (large enough) such that for any $\tau \geq \tau_0$, there exists D > 0 (small enough) such that we have the estimates

$$||F(x,U)||_{X_{s'}} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{s-s'} ||U||_{X_s},$$
 (3.37)

$$||F(x,U) - F(x,V)||_{X_{s'}} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{s - s'} ||U - V||_{X_s}$$
 (3.38)

for $0 \le s' < s \le 1$, and $U = (u_0, u_1, \dots, u_{M-1}) \in X_s, V = (v_0, v_1, \dots, v_{M-1}) \in X_s$ with

$$||U||_{X_s} \le D, \ ||V||_{X_s} \le D. \tag{3.39}$$

Furthermore, for $0 \le s \le 1$ and $U \in X_s$ with $||U||_{X_s} \le D$, the map $x \in [-1,1] \to F(x,U) \in X_s$ is continuous.

Proof. The assumption (1.7) gives F(x,0) = 0 and therefore (3.37) follows from (3.38). Thus it is sufficient to prove (3.38). Pick $0 \le s' < s \le 1$, D > 0 and $U, V \in X_s$ satisfying (3.39). Then, the definition (1.11) of f gives

$$\begin{split} \|F(x,U)-F(x,V)\|_{X_{s'}} &= \left\|-\left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ f(x,U)-f(x,V) \end{array}\right)\right\|_{X_{s'}} \\ &= e^{-\tau(1-s')}\|f(x,U)-f(x,V)\|_{L(s')} \\ &\leq e^{-\tau(1-s')}\sum_{|\vec{p}|>0}\|A_{\vec{p}}(x)[\prod_{j=0}^{M-1}u_j^{p_j}-\prod_{j=0}^{M-1}v_j^{p_j}]\|_{L(s')} \\ &\leq e^{-\tau(1-s')}\sum_{|\vec{p}|>0}|A_{\vec{p}}(x)|\sum_{j=0}^{M-1}\|u_j^{p_j}-v_j^{p_j}\|_{L(s')}\prod_{i\neq j}\left(\|u_i\|_{L(s')}^{p_i}+\|v_i\|_{L(s')}^{p_i}\right) \end{split}$$

where we used the triangle inequality, Lemma 3.3 and an iteration argument. Note that, by (3.18), we have for a constant $\widehat{C} = \widehat{C}(L_1, M) \ge 1$ and any $0 \le s' < 1$

$$\sum_{i=0}^{M-1} \|u_i\|_{L(s')} \le \widehat{C} \sum_{i=0}^{M-1} \|u_i\|_{L(s'), \frac{M-i-1}{\lambda}} \le \widehat{C} e^{\tau(1-s')} \|U\|_{X_{s'}} \le \widehat{C} D e^{\tau}, \tag{3.40}$$

and similarly $\sum_{i=0}^{M-1} \|v_i\|_{L(s')} \leq \widehat{C}De^{\tau}$. Using again Lemma 3.3, for $j = 0, \dots, M-1$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_{j}^{p_{j}} - v_{j}^{p_{j}}\|_{L(s')} &= \|(u_{j} - v_{j})(u_{j}^{p_{j}-1} + u_{j}^{p_{j}-2}v_{j} + \dots + v_{j}^{p_{j}-1})\|_{L(s')} \\ &\leq \|u_{j} - v_{j}\|_{L(s')} \left(\|u_{j}\|_{L(s')}^{p_{j}-1} + \|u_{j}\|_{L(s')}^{p_{j}-2} \|v_{j}\|_{L(s')} + \dots + \|v_{j}\|_{L(s')}^{p_{j}-1} \right) \\ &\leq p_{j} (\widehat{C}De^{\tau})^{p_{j}-1} \|u_{j} - v_{j}\|_{L(s')}. \end{aligned}$$

It follows that

$$||F(x,U) - F(x,V)||_{X_{s'}} \leq 2^{M-1} e^{-\tau(1-s')} \sum_{|\vec{p}| > 0} |A_{\vec{p}}(x)| \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} p_j ||u_j - v_j||_{L(s')} (\widehat{C}De^{\tau})^{|\vec{p}| - 1}$$

$$\leq C(L_1, N, M) ||U - V||_{X_{s'}} \sum_{|\vec{p}| > 0} |A_{\vec{p}}(x)| \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} p_j (\widehat{C}De^{\tau})^{|\vec{p}| - 1}$$

$$=: C(L_1, N, M) ||U - V||_{X_{s'}} S. \tag{3.41}$$

where we have used (3.18). Let us estimate the term

$$S := \sum_{|\vec{p}| > 0} |A_{\vec{p}}(x)| \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} p_j (\hat{C} D e^{\tau})^{|\vec{p}| - 1},$$

set $C'_a := C_a/(1 - b_2^{-1})$. Estimate (1.12) becomes

$$|A_{\vec{p}}(x)| \le \frac{C_a}{b^{|\vec{p}|}} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{|x|}{b^2}} \le \frac{C'_a}{b^{|\vec{p}|}}, \quad \text{for } |x| \le 1,$$

so that we have

$$S \leq \sum_{|\vec{p}| > 0} \frac{C_a'}{b^{|\vec{p}|}} |\vec{p}| (CDe^\tau)^{|\vec{p}|-1} \leq \sum_{R=1}^{+\infty} \sum_{|\vec{p}| = R} \frac{C_a'}{b^R} R (CDe^\tau)^{R-1}.$$

Using the fact that $\sum_{|\vec{p}|=R} 1 \le C(R+1)^{M-1}$ and that for $0 < \rho < 1$,

$$\sum_{R=0}^{\infty} (R+1) \cdots (R+M) \rho^R = \frac{d^M}{d\rho^M} \sum_{R=0}^{\infty} \rho^{R+M} = \frac{d^M}{d\rho^M} \frac{\rho^M}{1-\rho} = P(\rho) (1-\rho)^{-M-1},$$

for some $P \in \mathbb{R}[X]$. We obtain

$$S \leq C(C'_a, b, M) \sum_{R=1}^{+\infty} (R+1)^{M-1} R \left(\frac{\widehat{C}De^{\tau}}{b}\right)^{R-1}$$

$$\leq C(C'_a, b, M) \sum_{R=0}^{+\infty} (R+1) \cdots (R+M) \left(\frac{\widehat{C}De^{\tau}}{b}\right)^{R}$$

$$\leq C(C'_a, b, M) \left(1 - \frac{\widehat{C}De^{\tau}}{b}\right)^{-M-1} \leq C(C'_a, b, M),$$

provided that

$$D \le \frac{be^{-\tau}}{2\widehat{C}(L_1, M)}. (3.42)$$

Therefore, using (3.31), (3.35) and (3.41), we infer that (3.42) implies

$$\begin{split} \|F(x,U) - F(x,V)\|_{X_{s'}} & \leq & C(C_a',b,M,N,L_1) \|U - V\|_{X_{s'}} \\ & \leq & C(C_a',b,M,N,L_1) e^{-\tau(s-s')} \|U - V\|_{X_s} \\ & \leq & \frac{C(C_a',b,M,N,L_1)}{e} \frac{1}{\tau(s-s')} \|U - V\|_{X_s} \cdot \end{split}$$

To complete the proof of (3.38), it is sufficient to pick $\tau \geq \tau_0$ with τ_0 such that $\frac{C(C'_a, b, M, N, L_1)}{e\tau_0} \leq \epsilon$, and D as in (3.42).

For given $0 \le s \le 1$ and $U = (u_0, u_1, ..., u_{M-1}) \in X_s$ with $||U||_{X_s} \le D$, let us prove that the map $x \in [-1, 1] \to F(x, U) \in X_s$ is continuous. Pick any $x, x' \in [-1, 1]$. From the mean value theorem, we have for $r \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $|x^R - x'^R| \le R|x - x'|$ with $R \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$|A_{\vec{p}}(x) - A_{\vec{p}}(x')| \le |x - x'| \sum_{R \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{RC_a}{b^{|\vec{p}|} b_2^R} = \frac{C_a}{b^{|\vec{p}|} b_2} \left(1 - \frac{1}{b_2}\right)^{-2} |x - x'|.$$

We infer that

$$||F(x,U) - F(x',U)||_{X_{s}} = e^{-\tau(1-s)} ||f(x,u_{0},\cdots,u_{M-1}) - f(x',u_{0},\cdots,u_{M-1})||_{L(s)}$$

$$\leq \sum_{|\vec{p}|>0} |A_{\vec{p}}(x) - A_{\vec{p}}(x')|||u_{0}^{p_{0}}u_{1}^{p_{1}},\cdots u_{M-1}^{p_{M-1}}||_{L(s)}$$

$$\leq \frac{C_{a}}{b_{2}} \left(1 - \frac{1}{b_{2}}\right)^{-2} |x - x'| \sum_{|\vec{p}|>0} \frac{\left(\widehat{C}(L_{1},M)De^{\tau}\right)^{|\vec{p}|}}{b^{|\vec{p}|}},$$

due to Lemma 3.3 and (3.40), the last series being convergent when (3.42) is fulfilled. This proves the continuity of the map $x \in [-1,1] \to F(x,U) \in X_s$.

We are in a position to prove Theorem 3.1.

Proof of Theorem 3.1. By Remark 4, we can assume $|\zeta_M|=1$. Let $f=f(x,\vec{y})$ be as in (1.7)-(1.10), $-\infty < t_1 < t_2 < +\infty$ and $R > (4N)^{\lambda}$. Pick $k_0, k_1, \cdots, k_{M-1} \in G^{\lambda}([t_1, t_2])$ such that (3.2) holds. We will show that Theorem 3.5 can be applied provided that C is small enough. Pick $L_1 \in (1/R, 1/(4N)^{\lambda})$. Let $\eta = \eta(L_1) > 0$ be as in Theorem 3.5. Let $K_0 = (k_0, k_1, \cdots, k_{M-1})$. We have to show that

$$||K_0||_{\mathcal{X}_{L_1}} = \sum_{i=0}^{M-1} ||k_i||_{L_1, \frac{M-j-1}{\lambda}} \le \eta,$$

for C small enough. Thanks to (3.15) and up to a change of $\eta(L_1)$ by a smaller constant, it is sufficient to have for any $i = 0, \dots, M-1$,

$$||k_i||_{L_1, \frac{M-1}{\lambda}} \le \frac{\eta}{2}.$$
 (3.43)

Recall that

$$||f||_{L_{1},\frac{M-1}{\lambda}} = \max \left(2^{6} ||f||_{L^{\infty}([t_{1},t_{2}])}, 2^{3} L_{1}^{-1} \sup_{t \in [t_{1},t_{2}],n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{|f^{(n+1)}(t)|}{L_{1}^{|n-\frac{M-1}{\lambda}|} \Gamma_{\lambda,\frac{M-1}{\lambda}}(n)} \right), \quad (3.44)$$

where

$$\Gamma_{\lambda,\frac{M-1}{\lambda}}(n) = \begin{cases} 2^{-5} \left(\Gamma(n+1-\frac{M-1}{\lambda})\right)^{\lambda} (1+n)^{-2}, & \text{if } n > \frac{M-1}{\lambda} + 1, \\ 2^{-5} (n!)^{\lambda} (1+n)^{-2}, & \text{if } 0 \leq n \leq \frac{M-1}{\lambda} + 1. \end{cases}$$

Then, if follows that (3.43) is satisfied provided that

$$||k_i||_{L^{\infty}([t_1,t_2])} \le 2^{-7}\eta,$$
 (3.45)

$$||k_i^{(n+1)}||_{L^{\infty}([t_1,t_2])} \leq 2^{-4}\eta L_1^{1+|n-\frac{M-1}{\lambda}|} \Gamma_{\lambda,\frac{M-1}{\lambda}}(n), \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (3.46)

Since $\Gamma(n+1-\frac{M-1}{\lambda}) \sim \Gamma(n+1)/n^{\frac{M-1}{\lambda}} \sim n!/n^{\frac{M-1}{\lambda}}$ as $n \to +\infty$, we have that $\left(\Gamma(n+1-\frac{M-1}{\lambda})\right)^{\lambda} \sim (n!)^{\lambda}/n^{M-1}$. Thus, the r.h.s. of (3.46) is equivalent to $2^{-9}\eta L_1^{n+1-\frac{M-1}{\lambda}}(n!)^{\lambda}n^{-(M+1)}$ as $n \to +\infty$. Using (3.2) and $L_1 > 1/R$, we have that (3.46) holds if C is small enough. The same is true for (3.45).

We infer from Theorem 3.5 the existence of a solution $U = (y, \partial_x y, \dots, \partial_x^{M-1} y) \in C([-1, 1], X_{s_0})$ (for some $s_0 \in (0, 1)$) of (3.24). Let us check that $y \in C^{\infty}([-1, 1] \times [t_1, t_2])$. To this end, we prove by induction on $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the following statement

$$U \in C^{n}([-1,1], C^{k}([t_1, t_2])^{M}), \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (3.47)

The assertion (3.47) is true for n=0, since $X_{s_0} \subset C^k([t_1,t_2])^M$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Assume that (3.47) is true for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since A is a continuous linear map from $C^{k+N}([t_1,t_2])^M$ into $C^k([t_1,t_2])^M$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we have that

$$AU \in C^{n}([-1,1], C^{k}([t_1,t_2])^{M}), \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

On the other hand, as f is analytic and hence of class C^{∞} , we infer from (3.47) that $F(x,U) \in C^n([-1,1], C^k([t_1,t_2])^M)$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $\partial_x U = AU + F(x,U)$, we obtain that (3.47) is true with n replaced by n+1. Therefore, $y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$. Finally, the proof that $y \in G^{1,\lambda}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$, is given in Appendix 6.1, which uses some estimates of the next section, with eventually a stronger smallness assumption on the initial data.

4. Correspondence between the space derivatives and the time derivatives

We would like to know the relationship between the time derivatives and the space derivatives of any solution of a general nonlinear equation given by

$$\partial_t^N y = Py + f(x, Y^x) \tag{4.1}$$

where $f = f(x, Y^x)$ is of class C^{∞} on \mathbb{R}^{M+1} .

When f = 0 and $Py = \partial_x^M y$, then it is easy to see that

$$\partial_t^{nN+j}Y^x = \partial_x^{nM}\partial_t^jY^x, \quad \forall j \in \{0,...,N-1\}, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}. \tag{4.2}$$

It follows that for any (x_0, t_0) the determination of the jet $(\partial_t^n Y^x(x_0, t_0))_{n\geq 0}$ is equivalent to the determination of the jet $(\partial_x^n Y^t(x_0, t_0))_{n\geq 0}$. In the general case $(f = f(x, Y^x))$ and $Py = \sum_{j=0}^M \zeta_j \partial_x^j y$, the relation (4.2) may not be true. Nevertheless, there is still a one-to-one correspondence between the jet $(\partial_t^n Y^x(x_0, t_0))_{n\geq 0}$ and the jet $(\partial_x^n Y^t(x_0, t_0))_{n\geq 0}$. Introduce some notations. For given $-\infty < t_1 \le \tau \le t_2 < +\infty$, we set

$$S := \{ y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2]) : y \text{ satisfies } (4.1) \text{ on } [-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2] \},$$
 (4.3)

$$\mathcal{J}^t := \{(\partial_t^n Y^x(0,\tau))_{n\geq 0}: Y^x = (y,\partial_x y,...,\partial_x^{M-1} y), y \in \mathcal{S}\} \subset (\mathbb{R}^M)^{\mathbb{N}}, \tag{4.4}$$

$$\mathcal{J}^x := \{(\partial_x^n Y^t(0,\tau))_{n\geq 0}: Y^t = (y,\partial_t y,...,\partial_t^{N-1} y), y \in \mathcal{S}\} \subset (\mathbb{R}^N)^{\mathbb{N}}.$$

$$(4.5)$$

The set \mathcal{J}^t (resp. \mathcal{J}^x), which stands for the set of sequences of *time derivatives* (resp. space derivatives) at $(0,\tau)$ of Y^x (resp. Y^t) for smooth solutions y of (4.1), is a subset of $(\mathbb{R}^M)^{\mathbb{N}}$ (resp. $(\mathbb{R}^N)^{\mathbb{N}}$) that we will not determine explicitly.

Proposition 4.1. Let $-\infty < t_1 \le \tau \le t_2 < +\infty$ and assume that $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{M+1})$. Then there exists a map $\Lambda : (\mathbb{R}^N)^{\mathbb{N}} \to (\mathbb{R}^M)^{\mathbb{N}}$ whose restriction (still denoted by Λ) $\Lambda : \mathcal{J}^x \to \mathcal{J}^t$ is a bijection such that for any $y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ satisfying (4.1) on $[-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2]$, we have $(\partial_t^n Y^x(0,\tau))_{n\geq 0} = \Lambda\left((\partial_x^n Y^t(0,\tau))_{n\geq 0}\right)$, where $Y^x = (y,\partial_x y,...,\partial_x^{M-1}y)$ and $Y^t = (y,\partial_t y,...,\partial_t^{N-1}y)$.

Proof. Proposition 4.1 is a consequence of Lemma 4.2 (see below) which, roughly speaking, consists in taking sufficiently many derivatives in (4.1).

Notation 4.1. The space $(\mathbb{R}^{q+1})^{p+1}$ will be denoted $E_{p,q}$. The current vector in $E_{p,q}$ will be denoted $Y_{p,q} \in E_{p,q}$ when a confusion may occur, but very often merely Y to make notations easier.

For $y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ and $p,q \in \mathbb{N}$, we denote the vector $Y_{p,q}^{x,t}(y) := (Y_q^t, \partial_x Y_q^t, \dots, \partial_x^p Y_q^t) \in E_{p,q}$ with $Y_q^t(x,t) = (y(x,t), \partial_t y(x,t), \dots, \partial_t^q y(x,t))$ as it was defined in (1.5). Most of the time, when only one function y is concerned, we will write $Y_{p,q}^{x,t}$.

Lemma 4.2. Let $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{M+1})$ and $l, k \in \mathbb{N}$ with l = Nn + j for some $0 \leq j < N$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exists a smooth function $H_l^k : \mathbb{R} \times E_{Mn+k-1,N-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that any solution $y \in C^{\infty}([0,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ of (4.1) satisfies

$$\partial_t^l \partial_x^k y = P^n \partial_t^j \partial_x^k y + H_l^k (x, Y_{Mn+k-1, N-1}^{x,t})$$

$$\tag{4.6}$$

where we have used the Notations 4.1.

We introduce first some definitions, notations, and lemmas that will be needed for the proof of Lemma 4.2. To apply Leibniz formula for x in a formal way, we have to see how the derivations ∂_x and ∂_t operate in $E_{p,q}$. This leads us to define the following operators.

Notation 4.2. There is a linear operator \widetilde{D}_t from $E_{p,q+1}$ to $E_{p,q}$ such that we can write $\partial_t Y_{p,q}^{x,t} = \widetilde{D}_t(Y_{p,q+1}^{x,t})$ for any smooth function.

Similarly, we define the operator \widetilde{D}_x from $E_{p+1,q}$ to $E_{p,q}$ by the shift $\widetilde{D}_x(Y_0,Y_1,\ldots,Y_{p+1})=(Y_1,\ldots,Y_{p+1})$ so that for any $y\in C^\infty([-1,1]\times[t_1,t_2])$, $Y_{p,q}^{x,t}$ being as in Notation 4.1, we have

$$\widetilde{D}_x Y_{k+1,N-1}^{x,t} = \partial_x Y_{k,N-1}^{x,t}.$$
 (4.7)

Note that \widetilde{D}_t can also be seen as a shift, but after a proper identification between $E_{p,q}$ and $E_{q,p}$. The operator \widetilde{D}_x depends of course on p and q but, since the definition is similar for each p, q, it should not lead to any confusion.

Notation 4.3. For $Y = (Y^0, \dots, Y^i, \dots, Y^k) \in E_{k,N-1}$, we denote

$$I(Y) := (Y^0, \dots, (-1)^i Y^i, \dots, (-1)^k Y^k).$$

Strictly speaking, the operator I depends on k, but since it takes the same form on each space, we will keep the same notation. The interest of this operator is that for $y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ and $Y = Y_{k,N-1}^{x,t}(y)$ as in Notation 4.1, we have

$$I(Y(y)) = Y(y_{-})(-x),$$
 (4.8)

where y_{-} is the reflected function $y_{-}(t,x) := y(t,-x)$.

We notice that

$$\widetilde{D}_t I(Y) = I(\widetilde{D}_t Y),$$
 (4.9)

$$\widetilde{D}_x I(Y) = -I(\widetilde{D}_x Y). \tag{4.10}$$

Lemma 4.3. Let $p, q \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $M : \mathbb{R} \times E_{p,q} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a smooth function. Then there exist two smooth functions $M_t : [-1,1] \times E_{p,q+1} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $M_x : [-1,1] \times E_{p+1,q} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for any $y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ (not necessarily solution of (4.1)), $Y_{p,q}^{x,t}$ being as in Notation 4.1, we have

$$\partial_t M(x, Y_{p,q}^{x,t}) = M_t(x, Y_{p,q+1}^{x,t}), \tag{4.11}$$

$$\partial_x M(x, Y_{p,q}^{x,t}) = M_x(x, Y_{p+1,q}^{x,t}). \tag{4.12}$$

Moreover, if we assume that for some $\varpi, \sigma \in \{-1,1\}$, $M(-x,\varpi I(Y)) = \sigma M(x,Y)$, then we have

$$M_t(-x, \varpi I(Y)) = \sigma M_t(x, Y), \tag{4.13}$$

$$M_x(-x, \varpi I(Y)) = -\sigma M_x(x, Y). \tag{4.14}$$

Proof. By the chain rule, we have

$$\partial_t M(x, Y_{p,q}^{x,t}) = \nabla M(x, Y_{p,q}^{x,t}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \partial_t Y_{p,q}^{x,t} \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.15}$$

Using the operator \widetilde{D}_t introduced in Notation 4.2, we can define M_t as

$$M_t(x, Y_{p,q+1}) := \nabla M(x, Y_{p,q}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \widetilde{D}_t(Y_{p,q+1}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \forall x \in [-1, 1], \ \forall Y_{p,q+1} \in E_{p,q+1}.$$
 (4.16)

For $Y_{p,q+1} = (Y_0, Y_1, ..., Y_p) \in E_{p,q+1}$, we have denoted $Y_{p,q}$ the vector in $E_{p,q}$ obtained by selecting the q+1 first components of each vector Y_i for $0 \le i \le p$. With this definition, (4.11) is true for any smooth function y.

Similarly, we define the function M_x by

$$M_x(x, Y_{p+1,q}) := \nabla M(x, Y_{p,q}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ \widetilde{D}_x(Y_{p+1,q}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \forall x \in [-1, 1], \ \forall Y_{p+1,q} \in E_{p+1,q},$$
 (4.17)

and it can be seen that (4.12) is true for any smooth function y.

To prove (4.13), we take the derivative w.r.t. Y in the relation $M(-x, \varpi I(Y)) = \sigma M(x, Y)$ to obtain for any $Z \in E_{p,q}$,

$$\nabla M(-x,\varpi I(Y))\cdot \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ \varpi I(Z) \end{array}\right) \ = \ \sigma \nabla M(x,Y)\cdot \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ Z \end{array}\right).$$

Let $Y_{p,q+1} \in E_{p,q+1}$. Taking $Y = Y_{p,q}$ and $Z = \widetilde{D}_t(Y_{p,q+1})$ and noticing that $I(\widetilde{D}_t(Y_{p,q+1})) = \widetilde{D}_t(I(Y_{p,q+1}))$ by (4.9), we obtain

$$\nabla M(-x,\varpi I(Y_{p,q}))\cdot \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ \varpi \widetilde{D}_t(I(Y_{p,q+1})) \end{array}\right) \ = \ \sigma \nabla M(x,Y_{p,q})\cdot \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ \widetilde{D}_t(Y_{p,q+1}) \end{array}\right),$$

which is exactly (4.13). The proof of (4.14) is similar and is omitted.

Proof of Lemma 4.2. We will actually prove the slightly stronger result that for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and l = Nn + j for some $0 \le j < N$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, each H_l^k is actually a function of x and $Y \in E_{Mn+k-1,j}$

so that (4.6) is satisfied with $H_l^k(x, Y_{Mn+k-1,N-1}^{x,t})$ replaced by $H_l^k(x, Y_{Mn+k-1,j}^{x,t})$.

The case $n = 0, 0 \le j < N$ is trivial since we can take $H_l^k = 0$.

For some technical reasons, we will also need to deal with the case n = 1. Letting $f_0(x, Y_{M-1}^x) := f(x, Y_{M-1}^x)$, we apply the operator ∂_t^j in (4.1) for $0 \le j < N$ to get

$$\partial_t^{N+j} y = P \partial_t^j y + \partial_t^j f(x, Y_{M-1,0}^{x,t})$$

$$\tag{4.18}$$

We want to define functions f_i so that for any $y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$, we have

$$f_j(x, Y_{M-1,j}^{x,t}) = \partial_t^j f_0(x, Y_{M-1,0}^{x,t}) \text{ for } 0 < j < N.$$
 (4.19)

Using Notation 4.2 we can define f_j iteratively by

$$f_j(x, Y_{M-1,j}) := \nabla f_{j-1}(x, Y_{M-1,j-1}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \widetilde{D}_t(Y_{M-1,j}) \end{pmatrix},$$
 (4.20)

so that by Lemma 4.3, (4.19) is true for any $y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$. Now that the f_j are defined, we see that any solution y of (4.1) satisfies (4.18) and also

$$\partial_t^{N+j} y = P \partial_t^j y + f_j(x, Y_{M-1,j}^{x,t}). \tag{4.21}$$

In particular, defining $H_{N+j}^0 := f_j$, we see that the case k = 0, l = N + j with $0 \le j < N$ is treated.

Applying ∂_x^k in (4.21) and using Lemma 4.3, we can find some smooth functions H_{N+i}^k such that

$$\partial_t^{N+j} \partial_x^k y = P \partial_t^j \partial_x^k y + H_{N+j}^k (x, Y_{M-1+k,j}^{x,t}). \tag{4.22}$$

The H_{N+j}^k are defined by the iteration formula

$$H_{N+j}^{k}(x, Y_{M-1+k,j}) := \nabla H_{N+j}^{k-1}(x, Y_{M-1+k-1,j}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ \widetilde{D}_{x}(Y_{M-1+k,j}) \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.23}$$

this is the case n=1 of the Lemma.

Now, we construct the functions H_{Nn+j}^k by induction on n. Assume that the (4.6) is satisfied for some $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, for all l = Nn + j with $0 \le j < N$ and all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Applying the operator ∂_t^N in (4.6) yields

$$\partial_t^{l+N} \partial_x^k y = P^n \partial_t^j \partial_x^k \partial_t^N y + \partial_t^N H_l^k(x, Y_{Mn+k-1,j}^{x,t}). \tag{4.24}$$

Using equation (4.1), we obtain

$$\partial_t^{l+N} \partial_x^k y = P^{n+1} \partial_t^j \partial_x^k y + P^n \partial_x^k \partial_t^j f(x, Y_{M-1}^x) + \partial_t^N H_l^k(x, Y_{Mn+k-1, j}^{x, t}). \tag{4.25}$$

So, we are led to prove that the last two terms $P^n \partial_x^k \partial_t^j f(x, Y_{M-1}^x) + \partial_t^N H_l^k(x, Y_{Mn+k-1,j}^{x,t})$ can be written as $H_{l+N}^k(x, Y_{M(n+1)+k-1,j}^{x,t})$. Concerning the first one, due to (4.19) we can write

$$P^{n} \partial_{x}^{k} \partial_{t}^{j} f(x, Y_{M-1}^{x}) = P^{n} \partial_{x}^{k} f_{j}(x, Y_{M-1, j}^{x, t}). \tag{4.26}$$

Since $P^n \partial_x^k$ is a differential operator of order Mn + k in x, we see by successive applications of Lemma 4.3 that the previous term can be written as a smooth function of x and $Y_{M(n+1)+k-1,j}^{x,t}$.

By iterative applications of Lemma 4.3, the second term $\partial_t^N H_l^k(x,Y_{Mn+k-1,j}^{x,t})$ can be written as $F(x,Y_{Mn+k-1,j+N}^{x,t})$ for some smooth function F. But thanks to the case n=1, namely (4.22), for each $0 \leq p \leq Mn+k-1$, $\partial_t^{N+j}\partial_x^p y$ can be written as $J_{N+j}^p(x,Y_{M+p,j}^{x,t})$ for some smooth function J_{N+j}^p . In particular, $Y_{Mn+k-1,N+j}^{x,t}$ can be written as a smooth function of x and $Y_{M+Mn+k-1,j}^{x,t}$. It follows that $\partial_t^N H_l^k(x,Y_{Mn+k-1,j}^{x,t}) = F(x,Y_{Mn+k-1,j+N}^{x,t})$ can be written as a smooth function of x and $Y_{M(n+1)+k-1,j}^{x,t}$. Going back to (4.25) and summing up the expression of the last two terms as functions of x and $Y_{M(n+1)+k-1,j}^{x,t}$, we can write

$$\partial_t^{N(n+1)+j} \partial_x^k y = P^{n+1} \partial_t^j \partial_x^k y + H_{N(n+1)+j}^k (x, Y_{M(n+1)+k-1,j}^{x,t})$$
(4.27)

for some smooth function $H_{N(n+1)+j}^k$. This is the expected result at step n+1.

We present a few consequences of Lemma 4.2.

Notation 4.4. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and l = Nn + j for some $0 \le j < N$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Noticing that $P^n \partial_t^j \partial_x^k y$ can be expressed as a linear combination of variables in $Y_{Mn+k,N-1}^{x,t}$, we can define a smooth function $J_l^k : [-1,1] \times E_{Mn+k,N-1} \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$J_{l}^{k}(x, Y_{Mn+k,N-1}^{x,t}) = \partial_{t}^{l} \partial_{x}^{k} y = P^{n} \partial_{t}^{j} \partial_{x}^{k} y + H_{l}^{k}(x, Y_{Mn+k-1,N-1}^{x,t})$$

$$(4.28)$$

for any solution y of (4.1). We define also the vector-valued functions

$$J_l: [-1,1] \times E_{Mn+M-1,N-1} \to \mathbb{R}^M,$$

with
$$J_l = (J_l^0, J_l^1, \dots, J_l^{M-1})$$
.

These definitions will mainly be used at x=0 and t=0. Since the knowledge of the initial datum Y_0 and all its x-derivatives are sufficient to know $Y_{Mn+k,N-1}^{x,t}$ for t=0, J_l has to be thought as the function that, from a sufficient amount of x-derivatives of the initial datum, provides $(\partial_t^l Y^x)(0,0)$, that is the l time derivative of the boundary data. More precisely, if y is a solution of (4.1), we have for any t,x

$$\partial_t^l Y^x = J_l(x, Y_{Mn+M-1,N-1}^{x,t}). \tag{4.29}$$

In particular, this definition of J_l provides a proof for Lemma 1.1 with the appropriate choice of m(l) = Mn + M - 1 if l = Nn + j for some $0 \le j < N$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

The two following Lemmas are almost tautological with the definitions, but they are important to justify the relevance of the set C.

Lemma 4.4. Assume that y is a smooth solution of (1.1)-(1.3). Then $Y^t(.,t) \in \mathcal{C}$ for all $t \in [0,T]$.

Proof. From (1.2), we have $BY^x(0,t) = 0$ for all $t \in [0,T]$. Applying the operator ∂_t^l in that equation yields $B\partial_t^l Y^x(0,t) = 0$ for all $t \in [0,T]$. Writing l = Nn + j, with $0 \le j < N$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and using the fundamental property (4.29) of the function J_l , we obtain $BJ_l(x,Y^t,\partial_xY^t,...,\partial_x^{Mn+M-1}Y^t)_{x=0}$. It means that $Y^t(.,t) \in \mathcal{C}$ for all $t \in [0,T]$.

Lemma 4.5. Let y be a smooth solution to $\partial_t^N y = Py + f(x, y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{M-1} y)$ such that $Y^x(0,t) \in \mathcal{C}$ for some $t \in [0,T]$. Then Y^x satisfies the boundary condition $BY^x(0,t) = 0$.

Proof. We have $Y^x(0,t) \in \mathcal{C}$, which implies, with the choice l=0

$$BJ_0(x, Y^t, \partial_x Y^t, ..., \partial_x^{Mn+M-1} Y^t)_{x=0} = 0.$$

Using property (4.29) at time t and with x=0 and l=n=0, one obtains $BY^x(0,t)=0$.

The following Lemma is needed to prove Proposition 1.3.

Lemma 4.6. Assume that M is even and that

$$P = \sum_{j=0}^{M/2} \zeta_{2j} \partial_x^{2j}.$$
 (4.30)

(1) If (1.18) holds, then for all $l, k \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$H_l^k(-x, -I(Y)) = (-1)^{k+1} H_l^k(x, Y), \quad \forall x \in [-1, 1], \ \forall Y \in E_{Mn+k-1, N-1},$$
 (4.31)

$$J_l^k(-x, -I(Y)) = (-1)^{k+1} J_l^k(x, Y), \quad \forall x \in [-1, 1], \ \forall Y \in E_{Mn+k, N-1}.$$

$$(4.32)$$

(2) If (1.19) holds, then for all $l, k \in \mathbb{N}$ we have

$$H_l^k(-x, I(Y)) = (-1)^k H_l^k(x, Y), \quad \forall x \in [-1, 1], \ \forall Y \in E_{Mn+k-1, N-1},$$
 (4.33)

$$J_l^k(-x, I(Y)) = (-1)^k J_l^k(x, Y), \quad \forall x \in [-1, 1], \ \forall Y \in E_{Mn+k, N-1}.$$

$$(4.34)$$

Proof. To treat both cases simultaneously, we define ϖ as $\varpi = -1$ (resp $\varpi = 1$) if (1.18) holds (resp. (1.19) holds). Therefore, we want to prove

$$H_l^k(-x, \varpi I(Y)) = \varpi(-1)^k H_l^k(x, Y) \quad \forall Y \in E_{Mn+k-1, N-1},$$
 (4.35)

$$J_{l}^{k}(-x, \varpi I(Y)) = \varpi(-1)^{k} J_{l}^{k}(x, Y) \quad \forall Y \in E_{Mn+k, N-1}. \tag{4.36}$$

We still denote l = Nn + j, where $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 \le j < N$. We first prove (4.35) by induction on n. If n = 0, then (4.35) is obvious since $H_l^k = 0$.

Assume that n = 1 so that l = N + j. Assume first that k = 0. We claim that

$$f_j(-x, \varpi I(Y_{M-1,j})) = \varpi f_j(x, Y_{M-1,j}), \quad \forall Y_{M-1,j} \in E_{M-1,j}.$$
 (4.37)

We proceed by induction. For j=0, $f_0=f$, so it follows from assumption (1.18) or (1.19) thanks to the choice of ϖ . If (4.37) is true for j-1, taking derivatives with respect to Y, we also have, for any $Z \in E_{M-1,j-1}$,

$$\varpi \nabla f_{j-1}(-x, \varpi I(Y_{M-1,j-1})) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ I(Z) \end{pmatrix} = \varpi \nabla f_{j-1}(x, Y_{M-1,j-1}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ Z \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.38}$$

By (4.9), (4.20) and (4.38), we have

$$f_{j}(-x, \varpi I(Y_{M-1,j})) = \nabla f_{j-1}(-x, \varpi I(Y_{M-1,j-1})) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \widetilde{D}_{t}(\varpi I(Y_{M-1,j})) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \varpi \nabla f_{j-1}(-x, \varpi I(Y_{M-1,j-1})) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ I(\widetilde{D}_{t}(Y_{M-1,j})) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \varpi \nabla f_{j-1}(x, Y_{M-1,j-1}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \widetilde{D}_{t}(Y_{M-1,j}) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \varpi f_{j}(x, Y_{M-1,j}).$$

Assume now that (4.35) is true for $0 \le j < N$ and at step k - 1, i.e.

$$H^{k-1}_{N+j}(-x,\varpi I(Y_{M-1+k-1,j}))=\varpi (-1)^{k-1}H^{k-1}_{N+j}(x,Y_{M-1+k-1,j}).$$

Taking derivatives with respect to x and Y, it gives for any $Z \in E_{M-1+k-1,j}$,

$$\nabla H_{N+j}^{k-1}(-x,\varpi I(Y_{M-1+k-1,j}))\cdot \left(\begin{array}{c} -1\\ \varpi I(Z) \end{array}\right)=\varpi (-1)^{k-1}\nabla H_{N+j}^{k-1}(x,Y_{M-1+k-1,j})\cdot \left(\begin{array}{c} 1\\ Z \end{array}\right).$$

Combined with (4.23) and (4.10), this gives

$$\begin{split} H^{k}_{N+j}(-x,\varpi I(Y_{M-1+k,j})) &= \nabla H^{k-1}_{N+j}(-x,\varpi I(Y_{M-1+k-1,j})) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ \widetilde{D}_{x}(\varpi I(Y_{M-1+k,j})) \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \nabla H^{k-1}_{N+j}(-x,\varpi I(Y_{M-1+k-1,j})) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -\varpi I(\widetilde{D}_{x}(Y_{M-1+k,j})) \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \varpi (-1)^{k} \nabla H^{k-1}_{N+j}(x,Y_{M-1+k-1,j}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ \widetilde{D}_{x}(Y_{M-1+k,j}) \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \varpi (-1)^{k} H^{k}_{N+j}(x,Y_{M-1+k,j}). \end{split}$$

Thus (4.35) is proved for n = 1. Assume that (4.35) is true for l = Nn + j, with $0 \le j < N$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, and for $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Let us prove that (4.35) is also true for l + N and k. From (4.25)-(4.26), we have that

$$H_{l+N}^{k}(x, Y_{M(n+1)+k-1, i}^{x,t}) = P^{n} \partial_{x}^{k} f_{j}(x, Y_{M-1, i}^{x,t}) + \partial_{t}^{N} H_{l}^{k}(x, Y_{M(n+1)+k-1, i}^{x,t}). \tag{4.39}$$

By Lemma 4.3, (4.30) and (4.37), we infer that the first term $P^n \partial_x^k f_j(x, Y_{M-1,j}^{x,t})$ can be written as $G(x, Y_{M(n+1)+k-1,j}^{x,t})$ where G satisfies $G(-x, \varpi I(Y)) = (-1)^k \varpi G(x, Y)$.

The second term $\partial_t^N H_l^k(x, Y_{Mn+k-1,j}^{x,t})$, by an application of Lemma 4.3, can be written as $F(Y_{Mn+k-1,N+j}^{x,t})$ for a smooth function F that satisfies the same parity property as H_l^k , that is $F(-x, \varpi I(Y)) = \varpi(-1)^k F(x, Y)$.

But the case n=1 (see (4.22)) gives that, for each $0 \le p \le Mn+k-1$, $\partial_t^{N+j}\partial_x^p y$ can be written as $J_{N+j}^p(Y_{M+p,j}^{x,t})$ for some smooth function J_{N+j}^p that satisfies $J_{N+j}^p(-x,\varpi I(Y))=\varpi(-1)^pJ_{N+j}^p(x,Y)$. In particular, $Y_{Mn+k-1,N+j}^{x,t}$ can be written as $K(x,Y_{M+Mn+k-1,N-1}^{x,t})$ (the

components of K are the $J_{N+j}^p(x,Y)$). Therefore, the symmetry properties of J_{N+j}^p imply $K(-x,\varpi I(Y))=\varpi I(K(x,Y)).$ In particular, we can write

$$\partial_t^N H_l^k(x, Y_{Mn+k-1, j}^{x, t}) = F(x, Y_{Mn+k-1, j+N}^{x, t}) = F(x, K(x, Y_{M+Mn+k-1, N-1}^{x, t})).$$

Summarizing the symmetry properties of K and F, we obtain

$$F(-x, K(-x, \varpi I(Y))) = F(-x, \varpi I(K(x,Y))) = \varpi(-1)^k F(x, K(x,Y)).$$

This is the expected result, and it completes the proof of (4.35).

To prove (4.36), we use (4.28) and (4.35). Thus it remains to establish the symmetry property for the term $P^n \partial_t^j \partial_x^k y$ for any smooth function y. This follows at once from (4.8) and (4.30). \square

Next, we relate the behaviors as $n \to +\infty$ of the jets $(\partial_x^n Y^t(0,\tau))_{n\geq 0}$ and $(\partial_t^n Y^x(0,\tau))_{n\geq 0}$. To do that, we assume that in (4.1) the nonlinear term reads

$$f(x, y_0, y_1, ..., y_{M-1}) = \sum_{(\vec{p}, r) \in \mathbb{N}^{M+1}} a_{\vec{p}, r} y_0^{p_0} y_1^{p_1} \dots y_{M-1}^{p_{M-1}} x^r \quad \forall (x, y_0, ..., y_{M-1}) \in (-4, 4)^{M+1},$$

$$(4.40)$$

where the coefficients $a_{\vec{p},r}$, $(\vec{p},r) \in \mathbb{N}^{M+1}$, satisfy (1.9)-(1.10). For $x \in (-1, +\infty)$, we denote $x! = \Gamma(x+1)$, where $\Gamma(x) = \int_0^\infty t^{x-1} e^{-t} dt$ is the Gamma function.

Then
$$(x+1)! = (x+1)(x!)$$
 for $x > -1$. We also set $\begin{pmatrix} y \\ x \end{pmatrix} = \frac{y!}{x!(y-x)!}$ for $y \ge x \ge 0$.

Proposition 4.7. Let $-\infty < t_1 \le \tau \le t_2 < +\infty$ and $f = f(x, y_0, y_1, ..., y_{M-1})$ be as in (1.7)-(1.8) with the coefficients $a_{\vec{p},r}$, $(\vec{p},r) \in \mathbb{N}^{M+1}$, satisfying (1.9)-(1.10). Assume that $|\zeta_M| = 1$. Let $\widetilde{R} > 4$, $R, R' \in \mathbb{R}$ with $4 < R' < R < \min(\widetilde{R}, b_2)$, and $\mu > M + 1$. Then there exists some number $\widetilde{C} > 0$ such that for any $C \in (0, \widetilde{C}]$, one can find a number $C' = C'(C, R, R', \mu) > 0$ with $\lim_{C\to 0^+} C'(C, R, R', \mu) = 0$ such that

(1) for any function $y \in C^{\infty}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ satisfying (4.1) on $[-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2]$ and

$$Y^{t}(x,\tau) = Y_{0}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} A_{k} \frac{x^{k}}{k!}, \quad \forall x \in [-1,1]$$
(4.41)

for some $Y_0 \in (\mathcal{R}_{\widetilde{R}|C})^N$, we have

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau)| \le C' \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}} \ \forall k, n \in \mathbb{N}; \tag{4.42}$$

(2) there exists an application

$$\Lambda^{\infty}: (A_k)_{k\geq 0} \in (\mathcal{N}_{\tilde{R},C})^N \to (d_n^k)_{(n,k)\in\mathbb{N}^2} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}^2}$$

such that if there exists a solution y of (4.1) on $[-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2]$ with $Y^t(x,\tau) = \sum_{k\geq 0} A_k \frac{x^k}{k!}$, then $\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau) = d_n^k$ for all $(n,k) \in \mathbb{N}^2$ (without knowing a priori the existence of such solution). Moreover, we have

$$|d_n^k| \le C' \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}} \qquad \forall k, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

$$(4.43)$$

(3) The application Λ^{∞} satisfies the following property: Assume y is a smooth solution of (4.1) such that there exists $(d_n^k)_{(n,k)\in\mathbb{N}^2} = \Lambda^{\infty}((A_k)_{k\geq 0})$ for some $(A_k)_{k\geq 0} \in (\mathcal{N}_{\tilde{R},C})^N$ so that $\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau) = d_n^k$ for $k = 0, \ldots, M-1$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau) = d_n^k$ for all $(n,k) \in \mathbb{N}^2$.

We shall need several lemmas and give the proof of Proposition 4.7 later.

Lemma 4.8. (see [17, Lemma A.1]) For all $k, q \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a \in \{0, ..., k+q\}$, we have

$$\sum_{\substack{j+p=a\\0\leq j\leq k\\0\leq p\leq q}} \left(\begin{array}{c}k\\j\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{c}q\\p\end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c}k+q\\a\end{array}\right).$$

Lemma 4.9. For all $\lambda \in [1, +\infty)$ and all $k, j, n, i \in \mathbb{N}$ with $k \geq j$ and $n \geq i$, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} k \\ j \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} n \\ i \end{pmatrix} \le \lambda \begin{pmatrix} k + \lambda n \\ j + \lambda i \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.44}$$

Proof of Lemma 4.9. Recall the relationship (see e.g. [32]) between the Gamma function Γ and the Beta function B defined by $B(x,y) = \int_0^1 t^{x-1} (1-t)^{y-1} dt$ for Re x > 0 and Re y > 0:

$$B(x,y) = \frac{\Gamma(x)\Gamma(y)}{\Gamma(x+y)}. (4.45)$$

In particular, we have for $x, y \in [0, +\infty)$

$$\begin{pmatrix} x+y \\ x \end{pmatrix} = \frac{\Gamma(x+y+1)}{\Gamma(x+1)\Gamma(y+1)}$$

$$= \frac{\Gamma(x+y+1)}{\Gamma(x+y+2)} B(x+1,y+1)^{-1} = \left((x+y+1) \int_0^1 t^x (1-t)^y dt \right)^{-1}.$$

Taking $x = j + \lambda i$, $y = k - j + \lambda (n - i)$, this yields

$$(k+\lambda n+1)\begin{pmatrix} k+\lambda n\\ j+\lambda i \end{pmatrix} = \left(\int_0^1 t^{j+\lambda i} (1-t)^{k-j+\lambda(n-i)} dt\right)^{-1}.$$
 (4.46)

As the right-hand side of (4.46) is a non-decreasing function of λ , we infer that for $\lambda \geq 1$

$$(k+n+1)$$
 $\binom{k+n}{j+i} \le (k+\lambda n+1)$ $\binom{k+\lambda n}{j+\lambda i}$.

Therefore, using Lemma 4.8,

$$\begin{pmatrix} k \\ j \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} n \\ i \end{pmatrix} \le \begin{pmatrix} k+n \\ j+i \end{pmatrix} \le \frac{k+\lambda n+1}{k+n+1} \begin{pmatrix} k+\lambda n \\ j+\lambda i \end{pmatrix} \le \lambda \begin{pmatrix} k+\lambda n \\ j+\lambda i \end{pmatrix}.$$

The following result gives the algebra property for the mixed Gevrey spaces $G^{1,\lambda}([-1,1]\times[t_1,t_2])$.

Lemma 4.10. Let $-\infty < t_1 \le t_2 < \infty$, $(x_0, t_0) \in [-1, 1] \times [t_1, t_2]$, $R, R' \in (0, +\infty)$, $q \in \mathbb{N}$, $\lambda \in [1, +\infty)$, $\mu \in (q + 2, +\infty)$, $k_0, n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, $C_1, C_2 \in (0, +\infty)$, and $y_1, y_2 \in C^{\infty}([-1, 1] \times [t_1, t_2])$ be such that

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y_i(x_0, t_0)| \le C_i \frac{(\lambda n + k + q)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}} \quad \forall i = 1, 2, \quad \forall k \in \{0, ..., k_0\}, \ \forall n \in \{0, ..., n_0\}.$$

$$(4.47)$$

Then we have

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^n (y_1 y_2)(x_0, t_0)| \le K_{q,\mu} C_1 C_2 \frac{(\lambda n + k + q)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}} \quad \forall k \in \{0, ..., k_0\}, \ \forall n \in \{0, ..., n_0\},$$

$$(4.48)$$

where

$$K_{q,\mu} := \lambda 2^{\mu - q + 1} (1 + q)^{2q} \sum_{j \ge 0} \sum_{i \ge 0} \frac{1}{(\lambda i + j + 1)^{\mu - q}} < \infty.$$

Proof of Lemma 4.10: Using $(\lambda n + k + q)^q \le (1 + q)^q (1 + \lambda n + k)^q$, we obtain

$$(\lambda n + k + q)! = (\lambda n + k)! \prod_{j=1}^{q} (\lambda n + k + j) \le (\lambda n + k)! (\lambda n + k + q)^{q} \le (1 + q)^{q} (\lambda n + k)! (1 + \lambda n + k)^{q}.$$

So, denoting $\widetilde{\mu} := \mu - q > 2$ and $\widetilde{C}_i := (1+q)^q C_i$, we have

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y_i(x_0, t_0)| \le \widetilde{C}_i \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\widetilde{\mu}}}, \quad \forall i = 1, 2, \quad \forall k \in \{0, ..., k_0\}, \ \forall n \in \{0, ..., n_0\}.$$
(4.49)

We infer from the Leibniz rule that

$$\begin{split} &|\partial_x^k \partial_t^n(y_1 y_2)(x_0,t_0)| \\ &= \left| \sum_{0 \le j \le k} \sum_{0 \le i \le n} \binom{k}{j} \binom{n}{i} (\partial_x^j \partial_t^i y_1)(x_0,t_0) (\partial_x^{k-j} \partial_t^{n-i} y_2)(x_0,t_0) \right| \\ &\le \sum_{0 \le j \le k} \sum_{0 \le i \le n} \binom{k}{j} \binom{n}{i} \frac{\widetilde{C}_1(\lambda i+j)!}{R^j R'^{\lambda i} (\lambda i+j+1)^{\widetilde{\mu}}} \frac{\widetilde{C}_2(\lambda (n-i)+k-j)!}{R^{k-j} R'^{\lambda (n-i)} (\lambda (n-i)+k-j+1)^{\widetilde{\mu}}} \\ &= \frac{\widetilde{C}_1 \widetilde{C}_2}{R^k R'^{\lambda n}} (\lambda n+k)! \underbrace{\sum_{0 \le j \le k} \sum_{0 \le i \le n} \frac{\binom{k}{j} \binom{n}{i} \binom{\lambda n+k}{\lambda i+j}^{-1}}{(\lambda i+j+1)^{\widetilde{\mu}} (\lambda (n-i)+k-j+1)^{\widetilde{\mu}}}}_{I} \cdot \underbrace{}_{I} \end{split}$$

We infer from Lemma 4.9 that

$$\left(\begin{array}{c}k\\j\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{c}n\\i\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{c}\lambda n+k\\\lambda i+j\end{array}\right)^{-1}\leq\lambda.$$

Finally, by the convexity of $x \to x^{\tilde{\mu}}$ on $[0, +\infty)$, we have that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{0 \leq j \leq k} \sum_{0 \leq i \leq n} \frac{(\lambda n + k + 2)^{\widetilde{\mu}}}{(\lambda i + j + 1)^{\widetilde{\mu}} (\lambda (n - i) + k - j + 1)^{\widetilde{\mu}}} = \\ \sum_{0 \leq j \leq k} \sum_{0 \leq i \leq n} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda i + j + 1} + \frac{1}{\lambda (n - i) + k - j + 1} \right)^{\widetilde{\mu}} \leq \\ 2^{\widetilde{\mu} - 1} \sum_{0 \leq j \leq k} \sum_{0 \leq i \leq n} \left(\frac{1}{(\lambda i + j + 1)^{\widetilde{\mu}}} + \frac{1}{(\lambda (n - i) + k - j + 1)^{\widetilde{\mu}}} \right) \leq \\ 2^{\widetilde{\mu}} \sum_{j \geq 0} \sum_{i \geq 0} \frac{1}{(\lambda i + j + 1)^{\widetilde{\mu}}} < \infty, \end{split}$$

where we used the fact that $\widetilde{\mu} = \mu - q > 2$. It follows that

$$I \leq 2^{\widetilde{\mu}} \lambda \left(\sum_{j \geq 0} \sum_{i \geq 0} \frac{1}{(\lambda i + j + 1)^{\widetilde{\mu}}} \right) \frac{1}{(\lambda n + k + 2)^{\widetilde{\mu}}}$$
$$= 2^{\mu - q} \lambda \left(\sum_{j \geq 0} \sum_{i \geq 0} \frac{1}{(\lambda i + j + 1)^{\mu - q}} \right) \frac{(\lambda n + k + 2)^q}{(\lambda n + k + 2)^{\mu}},$$

and hence the proof of Lemma 4.10 is complete once we have noticed that $(\lambda n+k)!(\lambda n+k+2)^q \leq 2(\lambda n+k+q)!$. (We used the fact that $(x+2)^q \leq 2\prod_{j=1}^q (x+j)$ for all $x \geq 0, \ q \in \mathbb{N}^*$.)

Remark 6. Lemma 4.10 can also be written as the existence of an application $\pi: \mathbb{R}^{(k_0+1)\times (n_0+1)} \times \mathbb{R}^{(k_0+1)\times (n_0+1)} \mapsto \mathbb{R}^{(k_0+1)\times (n_0+1)}$ such that, if for some $d_1, d_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{(k_0+1)\times (n_0+1)}$ and two smooth functions y_1, y_2 satisfying $\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y_i(x_0, t_0) = d_{n,i}^k$, i = 1, 2 for all $k \in \{0, ..., k_0\}$, for all $n \in \{0, ..., n_0\}$, then $\partial_x^k \partial_t^n (y_1 y_2)(x_0, t_0) = (\pi(d_1, d_2))_n^k$. The definition of $\pi(d_1, d_2)$ is given inside of the proof by the Leibniz formula. The Lemma gives then that the estimates

$$\left| d_{n,i}^k \right| \le C_i \frac{(\lambda n + k + q)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}} \quad \forall i = 1, 2, \quad \forall k \in \{0, ..., k_0\}, \ \forall n \in \{0, ..., n_0\}.$$
 (4.50)

imply

$$\left| \left(\pi(d, \widetilde{d}) \right)_n^k \right| \le K_{q,\mu} C_1 C_2 \frac{(\lambda n + k + q)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}} \quad \forall k \in \{0, ..., k_0\}, \ \forall n \in \{0, ..., n_0\}.$$
 (4.51)

This equivalent way of writing the same result is consistent with the second part of Proposition 4.7.

We are now ready to complete the proof of Proposition 4.7.

Proof of Proposition 4.7. We will prove the first part of the proposition. The construction of the application Λ in the second part of the proposition will appear along the proof.

Pick any number $\mu > M + 1$. We shall prove by induction on $n \in \mathbb{N}$ that

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau)| \le C_n \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}}, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{4.52}$$

where $0 < C_n \le C_{n+1} \le C' < +\infty$. The value of the constant C' will appear along the proof. Assume first that n=0. Recall that $Y^t(x,\tau)=Y_0(x)=\sum_{k=0}^\infty A_k \frac{x^k}{k!}$ with $\|A_k\|_\infty \le C \frac{k!}{\widetilde{R}^k}$. Denote $A_k=(A_k^0,...,A_k^{N-1})$. Using the fact that $R<\widetilde{R}$, we have that for $0 \le n \le N-1$,

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau)| = |A_k^n| \le C \frac{k!}{\widetilde{R}^k} \le CD \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^k R^{l \lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}}$$

where

$$D := \left(\sup_{k \in \mathbb{N}, 0 \le n \le N-1} \left(\frac{R}{\tilde{R}} \right)^k R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu} \frac{k!}{(\lambda n + k)!} \right) < \infty.$$

Il follows that (4.52) holds for $0 \le n \le N-1$ for some constants $C_0, ..., C_{N-1} \le CD$. Assume now that (4.52) is true up to the rank n-1 for some $n \ge N$. Let us show that (4.52) is also true at the rank n for some constant $C_n > 0$. Then, by (1.1) and (1.11), we have that

$$\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau) = \partial_x^k \partial_t^{n-N} \sum_{j=0}^M \zeta_j \partial_x^j y(0,\tau) + \sum_{\vec{p} \neq 0} \partial_x^k \partial_t^{n-N} \left(A_{\vec{p}}(x) y^{p_0} (\partial_x y)^{p_1} \cdots (\partial_x^{M-1} y)^{p_{M-1}} \right) (0,\tau)$$

$$=: I_1 + I_2. \tag{4.53}$$

Let us estimate I_1 first. For $0 \le j \le M$, we have that

$$\begin{split} |\zeta_{j}\partial_{x}^{k+j}\partial_{t}^{n-N}y(0,\tau)| & \leq & |\zeta_{j}|C_{n-N}\frac{(\lambda(n-N)+k+j)!}{R^{k+j}R'^{\lambda(n-N)}(\lambda(n-N)+k+j+1)^{\mu}} \\ & \leq & |\zeta_{j}|C_{n-N}\frac{(\lambda n+k+j-M)!}{R^{k+j}R'^{\lambda n-M}(\lambda n+k+j-M+1)^{\mu}}, \end{split}$$

where we have used $\lambda N = M$. It follows that

$$|I_{1}| \leq \left[C_{n-N} \left(\frac{R'}{R} \right)^{M} + \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \frac{|\zeta_{j}| C_{n-N}}{(\lambda n + k + j - M + 1) \cdots (\lambda n + k)} \frac{R'^{M}}{R^{j}} \left(\frac{\lambda n + k + 1}{\lambda n + k + j - M + 1} \right)^{\mu} \right]$$

$$\times \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^{k} R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}}$$

$$\leq \left[C_{n-N} \left(\frac{R'}{R} \right)^{M} + \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \frac{|\zeta_{j}| C_{n-N}}{(\lambda n + j - M + 1) \cdots \lambda n} \frac{R'^{M}}{R^{j}} (M + 1)^{\mu} \right]$$

$$\times \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^{k} R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}}$$

$$(4.54)$$

where we have used $k, j \geq 0$ and $\lambda n + k \geq M$ so that $\frac{\lambda n + k + 1}{\lambda n + k + j - M + 1} \leq M + 1$. Let us estimate I_2 . Since $A_{\vec{p}}$ does not depend on t, we have that $\partial_x^k \partial_t^m A_{\vec{p}} = 0$ for $m \geq 1$ and $k \geq 0$. Next, for

 $k \geq 0$, we have that

$$|\partial_x^k A_{\vec{p}}(0)| = k! \, |a_{\vec{p},k}| \le \frac{C_a \, k!}{b^{|\vec{p}|} b_2^k} \le \frac{\overline{C}}{b^{|\vec{p}|}} \frac{k!}{(k+1)^{\mu} R^k},$$

for some constant $\overline{C} > 0$ depending on R, b_2 , μ , since $R < b_2$.

Note that, still by the iteration assumption (4.52) at step n-1, for $0 \le j \le M-1$ the function $\partial_x^j y$ satisfies the estimate

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^m (\partial_x^j y)(0,\tau)| \leq C_m \frac{(\lambda m + k + j)!}{R^{k+j} R'^{\lambda m} (\lambda m + k + j + 1)^{\mu}}$$

$$\leq \frac{C_m}{R^j} \frac{(\lambda m + k + M - 1)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda m} (\lambda m + k + 1)^{\mu}} \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall m \in \{0, ..., n - 1\}.$$

Let q = M - 1. Since $\mu > M + 1 = q + 2$, it follows from iterated applications of Lemma 4.10 that

$$\left| \partial_{x}^{k} \partial_{t}^{n-N} \left(A_{\vec{p}} y^{p_{0}} (\partial_{x} y)^{p_{1}} \cdots (\partial_{x}^{M-1} y)^{p_{M-1}} \right) (0, \tau) \right| \\
\leq \overline{C} \left(\frac{K C_{n-N}}{b} \right)^{|\vec{p}|} \frac{(\lambda (n-N) + k + M - 1)!}{R^{k} R'^{\lambda (n-N)} (\lambda (n-N) + k + 1)^{\mu}} \prod_{i=0}^{M-1} \frac{1}{(R^{j})^{p_{j}}} \tag{4.55}$$

where $K = K_{q,\mu} > 0$. If, for some number $\delta \in (0,1)$, we have

$$C_{n-N} \le \delta \min_{0 \le j \le M-1} \frac{bR^j}{K},\tag{4.56}$$

then

$$\sum_{\vec{p}\neq 0} \left(\frac{KC_{n-N}}{b} \right)^{|\vec{p}|} \prod_{j=0}^{M-1} \frac{1}{(R^j)^{p_j}} \le \frac{KC_{n-N}}{b} \left((1-\delta)^{-1} + \dots + (1-\delta)^{-M} \right) \le \frac{MK}{b(1-\delta)^M} C_{n-N}.$$

(We considered the subcases (1) $p_0 \ge 1$ and $p_1 = \ldots = p_{M-1} = 0$; (2) $p_0 \ge 0$, $p_1 \ge 1$ and $p_2 = \ldots = p_{M-1} = 0$; (3) $p_0 \ge 0$, $p_1 \ge 0$, $p_2 \ge 1$ and $p_3 = \ldots = p_{M-1} = 0$ etc.). Gathering the previous estimates and noticing that $\lambda N = M$, it follows that

$$|I_{2}| \leq \overline{C} \frac{(\lambda n + k - 1)!}{R^{k} R'^{\lambda n - M} (\lambda n - M + k + 1)^{\mu}} \frac{MK}{b(1 - \delta)^{M}} C_{n - N}$$

$$\leq \left[\frac{\overline{C} MKR'^{M}}{b(1 - \delta)^{M} (\lambda n + k)} \left(\frac{\lambda n + k + 1}{\lambda n - M + k + 1} \right)^{\mu} \right] \times \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^{k} R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}} C_{n - N}$$

$$\leq \left[\frac{\overline{C} MKR'^{M}}{b(1 - \delta)^{M} \lambda n} (M + 1)^{\mu} \right] \times \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^{k} R'^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}} C_{n - N}$$

$$(4.58)$$

where we have used again $\frac{\lambda n + k + 1}{\lambda n + k - M + 1} \leq M + 1$. We set $C_n := \max(\lambda_n, 1)C_{n-N}$, where

$$\lambda_n := |\zeta_M| \left(\frac{R'}{R} \right)^M + \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \frac{|\zeta_j|}{(\lambda n + j - M + 1) \dots \lambda n} \frac{R'^M}{R^j} (M+1)^\mu + \frac{\overline{C}MKR'^M}{b(1-\delta)^M \lambda n} (M+1)^\mu.$$

Then (4.52) holds. Since $\binom{R'}{R}^M < 1$ and $|\zeta_M| = 1$, it is clear that $|\lambda_n| \le 1$ for $n \gg 1$, say for $n \ge n_0 \ge N$. This yields $C_n \le C_{n-N}$ for all $n \ge n_0 \ge N$, provided that (4.56) holds for $n \le n_0$. To ensure (4.56) for $n \le n_0$, it is sufficient to choose C small enough (or, equivalently, \widetilde{C} small enough). The proof by induction of (4.52) is achieved. The proof of the first part of Proposition 4.7 is complete. For the second part of Proposition 4.7, we follow the proof of the first part and define the coefficients d_n^k by induction on n.

For $n=0,\ldots,N-1$ and $k\in\mathbb{N}$, if we denote $A_k=(A_k^0,A_k^1,\ldots,A_k^{N-1})$, then we have $\partial_x^k\partial_t^n y(0,\tau)=A_k^n$ for any solution satisfying (4.41). So we are led to define $d_n^k:=A_k^n$.

For $n \geq N$, following the proof of the previous estimates, we obtain using the notations introduced in (4.53) and Leibniz' rule

$$I_{1} = \sum_{j=0}^{M} \zeta_{j} \partial_{x}^{k+j} \partial_{t}^{n-N} y(0,\tau)$$

$$I_{2} = \sum_{\vec{p} \neq 0} \sum_{k_{1} + \dots + k_{M+1} = k} \sum_{n_{1} + \dots + n_{M+1} = n-N} \frac{k!}{k_{1}! \cdots k_{M+1}!} \frac{(n-N)!}{n_{1}! \cdots n_{M+1}!}$$

$$\left(\partial_{x}^{k_{1}} \partial_{t}^{n_{1}} (A_{\vec{p}}) \partial_{x}^{k_{2}} \partial_{t}^{n_{2}} (y^{p_{0}}) \partial_{x}^{k_{3}} \partial_{t}^{n_{3}} (\partial_{x} y)^{p_{1}} \cdots \partial_{x}^{k_{M+1}} \partial_{t}^{n_{M+1}} (\partial_{x}^{M-1} y)^{p_{M-1}} \right) (0,\tau)$$

$$(4.59)$$

with, for $0 \le i \le M - 1$,

$$\partial_{x}^{k_{i+2}} \partial_{t}^{n_{i+2}} (\partial_{x}^{i} y)^{p_{i}} (0, \tau) = \sum_{l_{1} + \dots + l_{p_{i}} = k_{i+2}} \sum_{m_{1} + \dots + m_{p_{i}} = n_{i+2}} \frac{1}{l_{1}! \cdots l_{p_{i}}!} \frac{n_{i+2}!}{m_{1}! \cdots m_{p_{i}}!} \partial_{x}^{l_{1}+i} \partial_{t}^{m_{1}} y(0, \tau) \cdots \partial_{x}^{l_{p_{i}}+i} \partial_{t}^{m_{p_{i}}} y(0, \tau).$$

$$(4.61)$$

We define some \widetilde{I}_1 and \widetilde{I}_2 by replacing in (4.59) $\partial_x^{k+j} \partial_t^{n-N} y(0,\tau)$ by d_{n-N}^{k+j} , and in (4.61) $\partial_x^{l_j+i} \partial_t^{m_j} y(0,\tau)$ by $d_{m_j}^{l_j+i}$, where $m_j \leq n_{i+2} \leq n-N$. For instance, \widetilde{I}_1 writes

$$\widetilde{I}_1 = \sum_{j=0}^{M} \zeta_j d_{n-N}^{k+j}$$

and \widetilde{I}_2 is defined similarly. We see that

$$d_n^k := \widetilde{I}_1 + \widetilde{I}_2$$

is uniquely defined in terms of the d_m^l 's for $m \leq n - N$, $l \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus the sequence $(d_n^k)_{(n,k)\in\mathbb{N}^2}$ can be defined by induction on n and the same estimates as before allow us to obtain (4.43), see also Remark 6.

For the third part of Proposition 4.7, we prove by iteration on k that $\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau) = d_n^k$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By assumption, the result is true for all $k = 0, \ldots, M-1$. We assume that the result is true until the rank k + M - 1 and we prove it at rank k + M. Let $n \geq N$. We know that we

have

$$\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau) = \sum_{j=0}^M \zeta_j \partial_x^{k+j} \partial_t^{n-N} y(0,\tau) + I_2, \tag{4.62}$$

where I_2 is defined by (4.60) and (4.61). The d_n^k have been defined by iteration on n by the formula

$$d_n^k = \sum_{j=0}^{M} \zeta_j d_{n-N}^{k+j} + \widetilde{I}_2$$
 (4.63)

where \widetilde{I}_2 has been obtained by replacing $\partial_x^{l_j+i}\partial_t^{m_j}y(0,\tau)$ by $d_{m_j}^{l_j+i}$ in the formula of I_2 . Since it only involves some terms with $0 \le i \le M-1$ and $0 \le l_j \le k$, we have $l_j+i \le k+M-1$ for these terms and the iteration property gives $\partial_x^{l_j+i}\partial_t^{m_j}y(0,\tau)=d_{m_j}^{l_j+i}$. In particular, $\widetilde{I}_2=I_2$. So, (4.63) can be written as

$$\zeta_M d_{n-N}^{k+M} = d_n^k - \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \zeta_j d_{n-N}^{k+j} - I_2.$$

Again, for $0 \le j \le M-1$, the iteration assumption gives $d_{n-N}^{k+j} = \partial_x^{k+j} \partial_t^{n-N} y(0,\tau)$ and $d_n^k = \partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau)$. So, we obtain

$$\zeta_M d_{n-N}^{k+M} = \partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(0,\tau) - \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \zeta_j \partial_x^{k+j} \partial_t^{n-N} y(0,\tau) - I_2.$$

After comparison with (4.62) and since $\zeta_M \neq 0$, we obtain $d_{n-N}^{k+M} = \partial_x^{k+M} \partial_t^{n-N} y(0,\tau)$. Since $n \geq N$ is arbitrary, it gives the result at step k+M.

Remark 7. We note that even if we do not know a priori whether Y_0 will give rise to a solution, the algorithm is still well-defined. Our proof will show a posteriori that any initial data Y_0 which is analytic (with an appropriate radius) and small enough will produce a solution making this detail not so relevant. But this fact is not obvious at this moment of the proof.

Note that at that moment, both Proposition 4.1 and Proposition 4.7 seem to give two relations between the space derivatives of Y_0 and the time derivatives of an eventual solution. If there exists a solution y starting from Y_0 at time t = 0, that relation should be unique (but this claim is not proved yet).

The following result will show the existence of a solution. It will allow us clarifying the relation between the $d_{n,k}$ and the functions J_n^k in Corollary 4.14. There is likely a direct way to prove this relation, but it might be quite computational. The difference between Lemma 4.2 and Proposition 4.7 is only the order in which we apply time and space derivatives to the equation.

Proposition 4.11 (Existence of solution without boundary condition). Let $-\infty < t_1 \le \tau \le t_2 < +\infty$ and $f = f(x, y_0, y_1, ..., y_{M-1})$ be as in (1.7)-(1.8) with the coefficients $a_{\vec{p},r}$, $(\vec{p},r) \in \mathbb{N}^{M+1}$, satisfying (1.9)-(1.10). Assume in addition that $b_2 > \hat{R} := 4N\lambda e^{(\lambda e)^{-1}}$. Let $\tilde{R} > \hat{R}$. Then

there exists some number $\widetilde{C} > 0$ such that for any $C \in (0,\widetilde{C}]$ and any numbers R_L with $\widehat{R} < R_L < \min(\widetilde{R},b_2)$ there exists a number $C'' = C''(C,\widetilde{R},R_L) > 0$ with $\lim_{C\to 0^+} C''(C,\widetilde{R},R_L) = 0$ such that for any $Y_0 \in (\mathcal{R}_{\widetilde{R},C})^N$, we can pick a function $y \in G^{1,\lambda}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ satisfying (4.1) for $(x,t) \in [-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2]$ and

$$Y^{t}(x,\tau) = Y_{0}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} A_{k} \frac{x^{k}}{k!}, \quad \forall x \in [-1,1],$$
(4.64)

and such that for all $t \in [t_1, t_2]$

$$\|\partial_t^n Y^x(0,t)\|_{\infty} \le C''(n!)^{\lambda} \left(\frac{D|\zeta_M|^{1/M}}{R_L}\right)^{n\lambda},\tag{4.65}$$

with $D := \lambda e^{(\lambda e)^{-1}}$.

Proof. We assume first that $|\zeta_M| = 1$, dealing with the general case at the end of the proof. Note that the scaling in time affects only (4.65).

Let $\hat{R} := 4N\lambda e^{(\lambda e)^{-1}}$, we will need some intermediate radii R, R', R'' with $\hat{R} < R_L < R'' < R' < R < \min(\tilde{R}, b_2)$. Pick \tilde{C} , C as in Proposition 4.7, and pick any $Y_0 \in (\mathcal{R}_{\tilde{R},C})^N$. If a function y as in Proposition 4.11 does exists, then both sequences of numbers

$$d_n^k := \partial_t^n \partial_x^k y(0, \tau), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}$$

can be computed inductively in terms of the coefficients $A_k = \partial_x^k Y_0(0)$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, according to Proposition 4.7, that is $(d_n^k)_{(n,k)\in\mathbb{N}^2} = \Lambda^\infty(A_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$. Note that the sequence $(d_n^k)_{(n,k)\in\mathbb{N}^2}$ can be defined in terms of the coefficients A_k 's, even if the existence of the solution y is not yet established, according to Proposition 4.7 (2). Furthermore, it follows from Proposition 4.7 that we have for some constant C' = C'(C, R, R') > 0,

$$|d_n^k| \le C' \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R^k R'^{\lambda n}}, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \quad \forall k \in \{0, \dots, M - 1\}.$$

Since $R'' \in (\hat{R}, R')$, there exists some constant P = P(R, R', R'') > 0 such that we have also

$$|d_n^k| \le C' P \frac{(\lambda n)!}{(R'')^{\lambda n}}, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \quad \forall k \in \{0, \dots, M-1\}.$$

The following lemma is a consequence of [25, Proposition 3.6]. The proof that [25, Proposition 3.6] implies Lemma 4.12 will be done later.

Lemma 4.12. Let $\lambda > 1$. Let $(d_q)_{q \geq 0}$ be a sequence of real numbers such that

$$|d_q| \le CH^q(\lambda q)! \quad \forall q \ge 0$$

for some H > 0 and C > 0. Then for all $\tilde{H} > e^{e^{-1}}H$ there exists a function $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that

$$f^{(q)}(0) = d_q \quad \forall q \ge 0,$$
 (4.66)

$$|f^{(q)}(t)| \le C\tilde{H}^q(\lambda q)! \quad \forall q \ge 0, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (4.67)

Pick $H := 1/(R'')^{\lambda}$ and $H_L := e^{e^{-1}}/(R_L)^{\lambda}$. Since $\hat{R} < R_L < R''$, we have $e^{e^{-1}}H < H_L < 1/(4N\lambda)^{\lambda}$. Then by Lemma 4.12, there exist M functions $h_0, h_1, \ldots, h_{M-1} \in G^{\lambda}([t_1, t_2])$ such that for $k = 0, \ldots, M-1$,

$$h_k^{(n)}(\tau) = d_n^k, \quad n \ge 0$$
 (4.68)

$$|h_k^{(n)}(t)| \le C' P H_L^n(\lambda n)!, \quad n \ge 0, \ t \in [t_1, t_2].$$
 (4.69)

It follows at once from Stirling's formula that $(\lambda n)! \leq C_s \lambda^{\lambda n} (n!)^{\lambda}$ for some universal constant $C_s > 0$, so that for $k = 0, \ldots, M - 1$,

$$|h_k^{(n)}(t)| \le C' P C_s(\lambda^{\lambda} H_L)^n (n!)^{\lambda}, \quad n \ge 0, \ t \in [t_1, t_2],$$
 (4.70)

Note that $\lambda^{\lambda}H_L < 1/(4N)^{\lambda}$. So, if C is sufficiently small, then C' is as small as desired, and it follows then from Theorem 3.1 that we can pick a function $y \in G^{1,\lambda}([-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2])$ satisfying (3.1) with $k_i := h_i$ for $0 \le i \le M-1$. In particular, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k = 0, \ldots, M-1$, we have $\partial_t^n \partial_x^k y(0,\tau) = h_k^{(n)}(\tau) = d_n^k$. Using the third Item of Proposition 4.7, we infer that $\partial_t^n \partial_x^k y(0,\tau) = d_n^k$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, we can check in the proof of Proposition 4.7 (case $0 \le n \le N-1$) that if $(d_n^k)_{(n,k)\in\mathbb{N}^2} = \Lambda^{\infty}(A_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$, then $d_n^k = A_k^n$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 \le n \le N-1$. In particular, $\partial_t^n \partial_x^k y(0,\tau) = A_k^n = \partial_x^k y_0^n(0)$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 \le n \le N-1$, where $Y_0 = (y_0^0, y_0^1, \ldots, y_0^{N-1})$, and hence (4.64) holds. Since $Y^x(0,t) = (h_0(t),\ldots,h_{M-1}(t))$ by construction, the estimate (4.65) follow from (4.70) with $C''' := C'PC_s$ and $\lambda^{\lambda}H_L = \left(\lambda e^{(\lambda e)^{-1}}/R_L\right)^{\lambda}$. The proof of Proposition 4.11 is complete for the case $|\zeta_M| = 1$.

In the general case, assuming $\tau=0$ without loss of generality, we proceed as in Remark 4 and define $\widetilde{P}=|\zeta_M|^{-1}P$ and $\widetilde{f}=|\zeta_M|^{-1}f$ for which the result is proved for any interval in time. We have therefore a solution \widetilde{y} of $\partial_t^N\widetilde{y}=|\zeta_M|^{-1}P\widetilde{y}+|\zeta_M|^{-1}f(x,\widetilde{Y^x})$ on $[-1,1]\times[|\zeta_M|^{-1}t_1,|\zeta_M|^{-1}t_2]$ with $\widetilde{Y}^t(x,0)=Y_0(x)$. Moreover, \widetilde{y} satisfies (4.65) with $|\zeta_M|=1$. Now, we define $y(x,t):=\widetilde{y}(x,|\zeta_M|^{1/N}t)$ which is a solution of $\partial_t^N y=Py+f(x,Y^x)$ on $[-1,1]\times[t_1,t_2]$ with $Y^t(x,0)=Y_0(x)$. By scaling, Y^x satisfies

$$\left|\partial_t^n Y^x(0,t)\right| \le \left|\zeta_M\right|^{n/N} \left| \left(\partial_t^n \widetilde{Y^x}\right)(0,\left|\zeta_M\right|^N t) \right| \le \left|\zeta_M\right|^{n\lambda/M} C''(n!)^{\lambda} \left(\frac{D}{R_L}\right)^{n\lambda}. \tag{4.71}$$

Proof of Lemma 4.12. We want to apply [25, Proposition 3.6] (stated below in Proposition 4.13) with the choice $a_0 = 1$ and k becoming k-1 so that $M_q = (\lambda q)!$ $a_k = \frac{(\lambda(k-1))!}{(\lambda k)!} = \Gamma(\lambda)^{-1}B(\lambda(k-1)+1,\lambda) = \Gamma(\lambda)^{-1}\int_0^1 t^{\lambda(k-1)}(1-t)^{\lambda-1}dt$ for $k \geq 1$. All the terms being positive, we obtain for

 $p \ge 1$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k>p} a_k &= \Gamma(\lambda)^{-1} \int_0^1 (1-t)^{\lambda-1} (\sum_{k>p} t^{\lambda(k-1)}) dt \\ &= \Gamma(\lambda)^{-1} \int_0^1 (1-t)^{\lambda-1} \frac{t^{\lambda p}}{1-t^{\lambda}} dt \le \Gamma(\lambda)^{-1} \int_0^1 (1-t)^{\lambda-2} t^{\lambda p} dt \\ &= \frac{\lambda p}{\Gamma(\lambda)(\lambda-1)} \int_0^1 (1-t)^{\lambda-1} t^{\lambda p-1} dt \le \frac{\lambda}{(\lambda-1)} p a_p < +\infty, \end{split}$$

where we have used twice $t^{\lambda} \leq t$ for $t \in [0,1]$ and $\lambda > 1$, and performed an integration by parts. In particular, the three conditions of Proposition 4.13 are fulfilled with $A := \frac{\lambda}{\lambda - 1} + 1$ and $M_q = (\lambda q)!$. This completes the proof of Lemma 4.12.

For the convenience of the reader, we state the following proposition that we used before to construct the suitable Gevrey functions.

Proposition 4.13 (Proposition 3.6 of [25]). Pick any sequence $(a_q)_{q\in\mathbb{N}}$ satisfying

- $1 = a_0 \ge a_1 \ge a_2 \ge \dots > 0$

for some constant $A \in (0,+\infty)$. Let $M_q := (a_0 \cdots a_q)^{-1}$ for $q \ge 0$. Then for any sequence of real numbers $(d_q)_{q>0}$ such that

$$|d_q| \le CH^q M_q, \quad \forall q \ge 0$$

for some H>0 and C>0, and for any $\widetilde{H}>e^{e^{-1}}H$, there exists a function $f\in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that

$$f^{(q)}(0) = d_q \quad \forall q \ge 0,$$
$$|f^{(q)}(x)| \le C\widetilde{H}^q M_q \quad \forall q \ge 0, \forall x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Corollary 4.14. Let Y_0 satisfying the assumptions of Proposition 4.7 and let $(d_n^k)_{(n,k)\in\mathbb{N}^2}$ be the sequence introduced in Proposition 4.7 (2). Then we have the relationship

$$d_n^k = J_n^k(0, A_0, A_1, ..., A_{M[\frac{n}{N}]+k})$$
(4.72)

where the J_n^k are the functions defined in (4.28). Moreover, if $Y_0 \in \mathcal{C}$ and if we set $D_n := (d_n^0, d_n^1, \dots, d_n^{M-1})$, then $BD_n = 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Let y be a solution given by Proposition 4.7. Then (4.72) holds since both sides of the equality agree with $\partial_t^n \partial_x^k y(0,\tau)$, according to (4.28) for the right-hand side and to Proposition 4.7 (2) for the left-hand side. Moreover if $Y_0 \in \mathcal{C}$, then $BD_n = BJ_n = 0$ by (1.17).

Proposition 4.15 (Existence of solution with boundary condition). Consider the same assumptions and constants as in Proposition 4.11. Then, for any $Y^0 \in \left(\mathcal{R}_{\tilde{R},C}\right)^N \cap \mathcal{C}$, we can find a solution of (1.1)-(1.2) for $(x,t) \in [-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2]$ satisfying (4.64) and (4.65).

Proof. The proof is similar to those of Proposition 4.11. The modifications to ensure the boundary conditions are the following.

The sequence $(D_n)_{n\geq 0}$ defined in Corollary 4.14 satisfies $BD_n=0$ for all $n\in\mathbb{N}$. We can then proceed as in the proof of Proposition 4.11, replacing Lemma 4.12 by Lemma 4.16 (see below). The advantage of using Lemma 4.16 is that the condition $BH_0(t)=0$ is satisfied by the function $H_0=(h_0,...,h_{M-1})\in G^{\lambda}([t_1,t_2])^M$ it provides. Then, using Theorem 3.1 again with that boundary condition H_0 , the equation (3.1) gives $Y^x(0,t)=H_0(t)$, so that the boundary condition $BY^x(0,t)=0$ is satisfied, as expected. This gives a solution of the system (1.1)-(1.2). The conditions (4.64) and (4.65) are fulfilled for the same reasons as in Proposition 4.11.

Lemma 4.16. Let $(D_q)_{q\geq 0}$ be a sequence in \mathbb{C}^M such that

$$||D_q||_{\infty} \le CH^q(\lambda q)! \quad \forall q \ge 0,$$

 $BD_q = 0 \quad \forall q \ge 0$

for some H > 0 and C > 0. Then for all $\tilde{H} > e^{e^{-1}}H$, there exists a function $F \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})^M$ such that

$$F^{(q)}(0) = D_q \quad \forall q \ge 0,$$
 (4.73)

$$||F^{(q)}(t)||_{\infty} \le C\tilde{H}^{q}(\lambda q)! \quad \forall q \ge 0, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}, \tag{4.74}$$

$$BF^{(q)}(t) = 0 \quad \forall q \ge 0, \ \forall t \in \mathbb{R}. \tag{4.75}$$

Proof. Let $e_i \in \mathbb{C}^M$, $i = 1, \dots, dim(\ker(B))$, be the vectors of a basis of $\ker(B)$. In particular, we can write $D_q = \sum_i D_{q,i} e_i$. By assumption, the real sequence $(D_{q,i})_{q \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfies the assumptions of Lemma 4.12, so that there are some functions $f_i \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying $f_i^{(q)}(0) = D_{q,i}$ and $|f_i^{(q)}(t)| \leq C\tilde{H}^q(\lambda q)!$ for all $q \geq 0$, $t \in \mathbb{R}$. The function $F = \sum_i f_i e_i$ satisfies the requested properties.

We also infer from the existence of solutions given by Proposition 4.11 the following uniqueness result for the functions J_I^k .

Lemma 4.17. Let $l \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exists some number $\varepsilon > 0$ such that if two applications $J_l, \tilde{J}_l: [-1,1] \times (\mathbb{R}^N)^{m(l)+1} \to \mathbb{R}^M$ satisfy (1.16) for any smooth solution y of (4.1), then they coincide on $[-1,1] \times B(0,\varepsilon)$. In particular, if both functions are analytic, then they are equal.

Proof. Since (1.16) is assumed to be satisfied, it is sufficient to prove that for any $(x_0, Y_0, Y_1, \cdots, Y_{m(l)}) \in [-1, 1] \times B(0, \varepsilon)$, there exists one solution of $y \in C^{\infty}([-1, 1] \times [t_1, t_2])$ solution of (4.1) with $(Y_0, Y_1, \cdots, Y_{m(l)}) = (Y^t, \partial_x Y^t(x_0, \tau), ..., \partial_x^{m(l)} Y^t(x_0, \tau))$. Thanks to Proposition 4.11, it suffices to find $Y^0 \in (\mathcal{R}_{\tilde{R},C})^N$ so that $(Y^0(x_0), \cdots, \partial_x^{m(l)} Y^0(x_0)) = (Y_0, Y_1, \cdots, Y_{m(l)})$. This is simple analytic interpolation if ε is chosen small enough with respect to \tilde{R}, C .

5. Proofs of Theorem 1.2 and Proposition 1.3

Proof of Theorem 1.2. Let $R > \hat{R} := 4N\lambda e^{(\lambda e)^{-1}}$ and let \widetilde{C} be the constant given by Proposition 4.11. Let $Y^0, Y^1 \in (\mathcal{R}_{R,\widetilde{C}})^N \cap \mathcal{C}$. We infer from Proposition 4.15 applied with $[t_1, t_2] = [0, T]$

and $\tau = 0$ (resp. $\tau = T$) the existence of two functions $\hat{y}, \tilde{y} \in G^{1,\lambda}([-1,1] \times [0,T])$ satisfying (1.1)-(1.2) and such that

$$\hat{Y}^t(x,0) = Y^0(x)$$
 and $\tilde{Y}^t(x,T) = Y^1(x)$, $\forall x \in [-1,1]$.

Let $\rho \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ be such that

$$\rho(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } t \le \frac{T}{4}, \\ 0 & \text{if } t \ge \frac{3T}{4}, \end{cases}$$

and $\rho_{|[0,T]} \in G^{\frac{\lambda+1}{2}}([0,T])$. (Note that $(\lambda+1)/2 > 1$.) Let

$$K_0(t) = \rho(t)\hat{Y}^x(0,t) + (1-\rho(t))\tilde{Y}^x(0,t), \quad t \in [0,T].$$

Then $K_0 \in G^{\lambda}([0,T])^M$ by [25, Lemma 3.7], and assuming $Y^0, Y^1 \in (\mathcal{R}_{R,\widehat{C}})^N \cap \mathcal{C}$ with $0 < \widehat{C} < \widehat{C}$, \widehat{C} small enough, we can assume that (3.2) is satisfied. It follows then from Theorem 3.1 that there exists a solution $y \in G^{1,\lambda}([-1,1] \times [0,T])$ of (3.1). Then y satisfies (1.1)-(1.2) together with $Y^t(x,T) = Y^1(x)$ for $x \in [-1,1]$.

Indeed, since $\rho(t) = 0$ for t > 3T/4, we have

$$\partial_t^n Y^x(0,T) = K_0^{(n)}(T) = \partial_t^n \tilde{Y}^x(0,T), \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N},$$

It follows then from Proposition 4.1 that $\partial_x^n Y^t(0,T) = \partial_x^n \tilde{Y}^t(0,T) = \partial_x^n Y^1(0)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and hence $Y^t(.,T) = Y^1$. We can prove in the same way that $Y^t(.,0) = Y^0$. The proof of Theorem 1.2 is achieved.

Let us now proceed to the proof of Proposition 1.3 describing the compatibility set in cases where parity arguments can be used.

Proof of Proposition 1.3. We first consider the Dirichlet case. We will give the modifications of the proof for the Neumann case after.

Consider first the Dirichlet case when $BY^x(0,t) = 0$ reduces to $\partial_x^{2j} y(0,t) = 0$ for $2j \leq M-1$. It means that, following the definition (1.17) and denoting J_l^i the *i*th component of the vector $J_l \in \mathbb{R}^M$, we have

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ Y_0 \in C^{\infty}([0,1])^N; \quad J_l^{2j}(0, Y_0, \partial_x Y_0, ..., \partial_x^{m(l)} Y_0)_{x=0} = 0, \quad \forall 0 \le 2j \le M-1, \forall l \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$$

So, we need to show $C = \widetilde{C}$, where

$$\widetilde{C} := \left\{ Y_0 = (y_0, y_1, ..., y_{N-1}) \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])^N; \quad \partial_x^{2j} y_l(0) = 0, \quad \forall j \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall l = 0, ..., N-1 \right\}$$

$$= \left\{ Y_0 \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])^N; \quad \partial_x^{2j} Y_0(0) = 0, \forall j \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

We first prove that $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \subset \mathcal{C}$.

The set \hat{C} is the set of smooth functions that admit a smooth odd extension to [-1,1]. We still denote $Y_0 \in C^{\infty}([-1,1])^N$ this extension. We use the notation $(Y_0)_k^x$ for the vector $(Y_0)_k^x = (Y_0, \partial_x Y_0, ..., \partial_x^k Y_0) \in E_{k,N-1}$. A vectorial variant of property (4.8) is then

$$I((Y_0)_k^x)(x) = (Y_{0,-})_k^x(-x)$$
(5.1)

where $Y_{0,-}$ is the reflected application $Y_{0,-}(x) = Y_0(-x)$.

The derivatives at zero are not modified, so we need to prove that $J_l^{2j}(0, (Y_0)_{m(l)}^x)_{x=0} = 0$ for this extension. Using Lemma 4.6 and property (5.1)

$$J_{l}^{k}(-x, -(Y_{0,-})_{m(l)}^{x}(-x)) = J_{l}^{k}(-x, -I((Y_{0})_{m(l)}^{x})(x)) = (-1)^{k+1}J_{l}^{k}(x, (Y_{0})_{m(l)}^{x}(x)).$$
 (5.2)

But since Y_0 is odd, $Y_{0,-} = -Y_0$ and $(Y_{0,-})_{m(l)}^x = -(Y_0)_{m(l)}^x$, which gives

$$J_l^k(-x,-(Y_{0,-})_{m(l)}^x)(-x)))=J_l^k(-x,(Y_0)_{m(l)}^x(-x)).$$

In particular, thanks to (5.2), the function $x \mapsto J_l^{2j}(x, (Y_0)_{m(l)}^x(x))$ is odd and $J_l^{2j}(0, (Y_0)_{m(l)}^x(0)) = 0$.

Next we prove that $\mathcal{C} \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}$. Let $Y_0 \in \mathcal{C}$. We prove by induction on k the following equivalent fact: $I((Y_0)_k^x) = -(Y_0)_k^x$ at x = 0.

For $k \leq M-1$, we notice from the proof of Lemma 4.2 that for $0 \leq l < N$, we have $H_l^k = 0$ so that for $Y_0 = (y_0, y_1, ..., y_{N-1})$, we have $J_l^k(x, Y_0, ..., \partial_x^k Y_0) = \partial_x^k y_l$. So the assumption $J_l^k(x, Y_0, ..., \partial_x^k Y_0)_{x=0} = 0$ for k even, $k \leq M-1$ implies $\partial_x^k y_l = 0$ for k even, $k \leq M-1$.

Now, assume that $I((Y_0)_{2k-1}^x) = -(Y_0)_{2k-1}^x$ at x = 0 for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $2k-1 \ge M-1$. Write 2k = Mn + i with $0 \le i < M$ (necessarily even) and pick any l = Nn + j, where j is arbitrary with $0 \le j < N$.

By (4.31), since i is even, we have $H_l^i(0, -I(Y)) = -H_l^i(0, Y)$ for all Y. We have by the inductive hypothesis $I((Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x) = -(Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x$ at x = 0, so that $H_l^i(0, (Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x(0)) = -H_l^i(0, (Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x(0))$, and hence $H_l^i(0, (Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x(0)) = 0$. Now, using the definition (4.28) of J_l^i and the assumption $Y_0 \in \mathcal{C}$ which gives $J_l^i(x, (Y_0)_{Mn+i}^x)_{x=0} = 0$ (since i is even), we obtain $P^n \partial_x^i y_j = 0$ if we denote $Y_0 = (y_0, \dots, y_{N-1})$. By the structure of P, this gives the result at step 2k = Mn + i since $0 \le j < N$ is arbitrary. This implies that the result is also true at step 2k + 1.

For the Neumann case, we modify the proof as follows.

This time, we are in the case when $BY^{x}(0,t) = 0$ reduces to $\partial_x^{2j+1}y(0,t) = 0$ for $2j+1 \leq M-1$, and using (1.17), we have

$$\mathcal{C} = \left\{ Y_0 \in C^{\infty}([0,1])^N; \quad J_l^{2j+1}(0, Y_0, \partial_x Y_0, ..., \partial_x^{m(l)} Y_0)_{x=0} = 0, \quad \forall 0 \le 2j+1 \le M-1, \forall l \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

So, we have to show that $C = \widetilde{C}$ with

$$\widetilde{C} := \left\{ Y_0 = (y_0, y_1, ..., y_{N-1}) \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])^N; \quad \partial_x^{2j+1} y_l(0) = 0, \quad \forall j \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall l = 0, ..., N-1 \right\}
= \left\{ Y_0 \in C^{\infty}([0, 1])^N; \quad \partial_x^{2j+1} Y_0(0) = 0, \forall j \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

We first prove that $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \subset \mathcal{C}$. In this case, the set $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}$ is the set of smooth functions that admit a smooth even extension to [-1,1]. So we need to prove that $J_l^{2j+1}(0,Y_0,\partial_xY_0,...,\partial_x^{m(l)}Y_0)_{x=0}=0$ for this extension. Using the second part of Lemma 4.6 and property (5.1)

$$J_l^k(-x, (Y_{0,-})_{m(l)}^x(-x)) = J_l^k(-x, I((Y_0)_{m(l)}^x)(x)) = (-1)^k J_l^k(x, (Y_0)_{m(l)}^x(x)).$$
 (5.3)

But since Y_0 is even, $Y_{0,-} = Y_0$ and $(Y_{0,-})_{m(l)}^x = (Y_0)_{m(l)}^x$, which gives this time

$$J_l^k(-x, (Y_{0,-})_{m(l)}^x(-x)) = J_l^k(-x, (Y_0)_{m(l)}^x(-x)).$$

In particular, thanks to (5.3), the function $x \to J_l^{2j+1}(x, (Y_0)_{m(l)}^x(x))$ is odd and

$$J_l^{2j+1}(0, (Y_0)_{m(l)}^x(0)) = 0.$$

In order to prove that $\mathcal{C} \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}$, we prove by induction on k that for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $I((Y_0)_k^x) = (Y_0)_k^x$ at x = 0.

For $k \leq M-1$, we still have $H_l^k = 0$ and the same arguments as in the Dirichlet case gives $\partial_x^k y_l = 0$ for k odd in the range we consider.

Assume that $I((Y_0)_{2k}^x) = (Y_0)_{2k}^x$ at x = 0 for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $2k \ge M-1$. Write 2k+1 = Mn+i with $0 \le i < M$ (necessarily odd), and pick l = Nn+j where j is arbitrary with $0 \le j < N$.

By (4.33), since i is odd, we have $H_l^i(0,I(Y)) = -H_l^i(0,Y)$ for all Y. But we have from the inductive hypothesis $I((Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x) = (Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x$ at x=0, so that $H_l^i(0,(Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x) = -H_l^i(0,(Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x)$, and hence $H_l^i(0,(Y_0)_{Mn+i-1}^x) = 0$. Now, using the definition (4.28) of J_l^i and the assumption $J_l^i(x,(Y_0)_{Mn+i}^x)_{x=0} = 0$ (since i is odd), we obtain $P^n\partial_x^i y_j = 0$ if $Y_0 = (y_0,\ldots,y_{N-1})$. Since $0 \le j < N$ is arbitrary, this gives the result at step 2k+1 and also at step 2k+2.

Appendix

6. A Lemma of Complex analysis

Lemma 6.1. Consider

$$\mathcal{B}_{R,C} := \left\{ z : [-1,1] \to \mathbb{C}; \ \exists f \in H_R^{\infty}, \ \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(B(0,R))} \le C, \ f\Big|_{[-1,1]} = z \right\}.$$

Then, for any 1 < r < R and C > 0

$$\mathcal{B}_{R,C} \subset \mathcal{R}_{R,C} \subset \mathcal{B}_{r,C(1-\frac{r}{R})^{-1}}.$$

Proof. For given $z \in \mathcal{B}_{R,C}$, if f denotes its analytic extension to B(0,R), writing $f(\xi) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_n \frac{\xi^n}{n!}$ for $|\xi| < R$, we have by Cauchy's formula that for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and any r < R:

$$|\alpha_n| = |f^{(n)}(0)| = \left| \frac{n!}{2\pi i} \int_{|\xi| = r} \frac{f(\xi)}{\xi^{n+1}} d\xi \right| \le \frac{n!}{r^n} ||f||_{L^{\infty}(B(0,R))},$$

and hence $|\alpha_n| \leq \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(B(0,R))} \frac{n!}{R^n}$ by letting $r \to R^-$. On the other hand, if $z \in \mathcal{R}_{R,C}$ is given by $z(\xi) = f(\xi) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_n \frac{\xi^n}{n!}$ for $\xi \in [-1,1]$ and 1 < r < R, then for $|\xi| < r$ we have that $|f(\xi)| \leq C \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (\frac{r}{R})^n = C(1-\frac{r}{R})^{-1} < \infty$.

6.1. Gevrey regularity of the solution of (3.1) provided in Theorem 3.1. Assume that f satisfies (1.7)-(1.10), still under the assumption $|\zeta_M|=1$. Let us show that $y\in G^{1,\lambda}([-1,1]\times [t_1,t_2])$. Let $L_0=L(s_0)=e^{\frac{1-s_0}{N}}L_1<\frac{e^{\frac{1}{N}}}{(4N)^{\lambda}}$ where $s_0\in [0,1]$ and L_1 are given in the proof of Theorem 3.1. Then, we can pick some numbers R_1,R_2 such that $\frac{4M}{e^{\frac{1}{M}}}< R_1< R_2<\frac{\lambda}{L_0^{\frac{1}{\lambda}}}$. Let us prove that there exists some constant Q>0 such that (3.3) holds. To this end, picking any $\mu>M+1$, we prove by induction on $k\in\mathbb{N}$ that

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^n y(x,t)| \leq C_k \frac{(\lambda n + k)!}{R_1^k R_2^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + k + 1)^{\mu}} \quad \forall (x,t) \in [-1,1] \times [t_1, t_2], \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N},$$
 (6.1)

with $\sup_{k\in\mathbb{N}} C_k < \infty$, the sequence C_k being nondecreasing. Let us start with $k\in\{0,...,M-1\}$. We already know that $y\in C^\infty([-1,1]\times[t_1,t_2])$ and that $U=(y,\partial_x y,...,\partial_x^{M-1})\in C([-1,1],X_{s_0})$ for some $s_0\in(0,1)$, the space X_{s_0} being defined in (3.29); that is, $U\in C([-1,1],\mathcal{X}_{L_0})$ with $L_0=L(s_0)=e^{r(1-s_0)}L_1=e^{\frac{1-s_0}{N}}L_1\leq e^{\frac{1}{N}}L_1$. Thus, we have for some constant C>0 and for all $n\in\mathbb{N}$ and all $(x,t)\in[-1,1]\times[t_1,t_2]$

$$\begin{split} |\partial_x^k \partial_t^{n+1} y(x,t)| & \leq C L_0^{|n-\frac{M-1-k}{\lambda}|} \Gamma(n+1-\frac{M-1-k}{\lambda})^{\lambda} (1+n)^{-2}, \\ |\partial_x^k \partial_t^{n+1} y(x,t)| & \leq C, \\ |\partial_x^{M-1} \partial_t^{n+1} y(x,t)| & \leq C L_0^n (n!)^{\lambda} (1+n)^{-2}, \end{split}$$

for
$$0 \le k < M - 1, n \le \left| \frac{M - k - 1}{\lambda} \right| + 1$$
.

We readily infer from Stirling's formula $\Gamma(x+1) \sim (\frac{x}{e})^x \sqrt{2\pi x}$ that $\Gamma(x+a) \sim \Gamma(x) x^a$ as $x \to \infty$, for any $a \in \mathbb{R}$, and that $(n!)^{\lambda} \sim (2\pi n)^{\frac{\lambda-1}{2}} \lambda^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\lambda n)! / \lambda^{\lambda n}$. It follows that for some constant C > 0

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^{n+1} y(x,t)| \leq C L_0^n L_0^{-\frac{M-1-k}{\lambda}} [n!(n+1)^{-\frac{M-1-k}{\lambda}}]^{\lambda} (n+1)^{-2} \leq C L_0^n \frac{(\lambda n)!}{\lambda^{\lambda n}} (n+1)^{-(M-1-k)} n^{\frac{\lambda-1}{2}}$$

for $0 \le k \le M - 1$. Thus there are some positive constants C_k , $0 \le k \le M - 1$, such that (6.1) holds, provided that $R_2 < \lambda/L_0^{\frac{1}{\lambda}}$.

Assume now that (6.1) is true for $k \in \{0, ..., l+M-1\}$ for some $l \in \mathbb{N}$. Let us show that (6.1) is true for k = l+M; that is, for all $n \geq 0$ and all $(x,t) \in [-1,1] \times [t_1,t_2]$

$$\left| \partial_x^{l+M} \partial_t^n y(x,t) \right| \le C_{l+M} \frac{(\lambda n + l + M)!}{R_1^{l+M} R_2^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + l + M + 1)^{\mu}},$$

for some constant $C_{l+M} > 0$. Since $|\zeta_M| = 1$, using (3.1), we have that

$$\begin{split} |\partial_x^{l+M} \partial_t^n y| &= |\partial_x^l \partial_t^n (\zeta_M \partial_x^M y)| \\ &= |\partial_x^l \partial_t^n (\partial_t^N y - \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \zeta_j \partial_x^j y - f(x, y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{M-1} y)| \\ &\leq |\partial_x^l \partial_t^{n+N} y| + |\partial_x^l \partial_t^n (\sum_{j=0}^{M-1} \zeta_j \partial_x^j y)| + |\partial_x^l \partial_t^n f(x, y, \partial_x y, ..., \partial_x^{M-1} y)| \\ &=: I_1 + I_2 + I_3. \end{split}$$

Then using directly the iteration assumption and $\lambda N = M$, we have

$$I_{1} \leq C_{l} \frac{(\lambda n + \lambda N + l)!}{R_{1}^{l} R_{2}^{\lambda n + \lambda N} (\lambda n + \lambda N + l + 1)^{\mu}} = C_{l} \left(\frac{R_{1}}{R_{2}}\right)^{M} \frac{(\lambda n + l + M)!}{R_{1}^{l+M} R_{2}^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + l + M + 1)^{\mu}}$$

On the other hand, we have that

$$I_{2} \leq \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} |\zeta_{j}| |\partial_{x}^{l+j} \partial_{t}^{n} y|$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=0}^{M-1} |\zeta_{j}| C_{l+j} \frac{(\lambda n + l + j)!}{R_{1}^{l+j} R_{2}^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + l + j + 1)^{\mu}}$$

$$\leq \left(\sum_{j=0}^{M-1} |\zeta_{j}| C_{l+j} \frac{R_{1}^{M-j}}{(\lambda n + l + j + 1) \cdots (\lambda n + l + M)} \left(\frac{\lambda n + l + M + 1}{\lambda n + l + j + 1} \right)^{\mu} \right)$$

$$\times \frac{(\lambda n + l + M)!}{R_{1}^{l+M} R_{2}^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + l + M + 1)^{\mu}}.$$

Finally, as in the proof of Proposition 4.7 (see estimate (4.55) iterating Lemma 4.10), we have that for some positive constant \overline{C}

$$I_{3} \leq \left| \partial_{x}^{l} \partial_{t}^{n} \sum_{\vec{p} \neq 0} A_{\vec{p}} y^{p_{0}} (\partial_{x} y)^{p_{1}} \cdots (\partial_{x}^{M-1} y)^{p_{M-1}} \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{\vec{p} \neq 0} K^{|\vec{p}|} \frac{\overline{C}}{b^{|\vec{p}|}} \frac{(\lambda n + l + M - 1)!}{R_{1}^{l} R_{2}^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + l + 1)^{\mu}} C_{l+M-1}^{|\vec{p}|} \prod_{j=0}^{M-1} \frac{1}{(R_{1}^{j})^{p_{j}}}$$

Note that $R_1 > 1$. If, for some constant $\delta \in (0, 1)$, we have

$$\frac{C_{l+M-1}K}{b} \le \delta,\tag{6.2}$$

this yields

$$I_{3} \leq \delta \overline{C} \frac{(\lambda n + l + M - 1)!}{R_{1}^{l} R_{2}^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + l + 1)^{\mu}} \left(\frac{1}{1 - \delta}\right)^{M}$$

$$\leq \frac{\delta \overline{C} R_{1}^{M}}{(\lambda n + l + M)(1 - \delta)^{M}} \left(\frac{\lambda n + l + M + 1}{\lambda n + l + 1}\right)^{\mu} \frac{(\lambda n + l + M)!}{R_{1}^{l + M} R_{2}^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + l + M + 1)^{\mu}}$$

It follows that

$$|\partial_x^{l+M} \partial_t^n y(x,t)| \le C_{l+M} \frac{(\lambda n + l + M)!}{R_1^{l+M} R_2^{\lambda n} (\lambda n + l + M + 1)^{\mu}},\tag{6.3}$$

with

$$\begin{split} C_{l+M} := \max \left(C_{l+M-1}, C_l \left(\frac{R_1}{R_2} \right)^M \right. \\ &+ \left(\sum_{j=0}^{M-1} |\zeta_j| C_{l+j} \frac{R_1^{M-j}}{(\lambda n+l+j+1) \cdots (\lambda n+l+M)} \left(\frac{\lambda n+l+M+1}{\lambda n+l+j+1} \right)^\mu \right. \\ &+ \frac{\delta \overline{C} R_1^M}{(\lambda n+l+M) (1-\delta)^M} \left(\frac{\lambda n+l+M+1}{\lambda n+l+1} \right)^\mu \right). \end{split}$$

Then, using the fact that $R_1 < R_2$, if $\frac{C_j K}{b} \le \delta$ for j = 0, 1, ..., l + M - 1, then $\frac{C_{l+M} K}{b} \le \delta$ provided that l is large enough, say $l \ge l_0$. It is then sufficient to impose that

$$\max(C_0, ..., C_{l_0+M-1}) \le \frac{\delta b}{K},$$

and this is the case provided that the constant C in (3.2) is small enough.

7. On the complex Ginzburg-Landau equation

Theorem 7.1. Theorem 3.1 holds true for the complex Ginzburg-Landau equation.

Proof. The fact that the equation is complex-valued does not change the proof. The only slight difference is for Lemma 3.8 where the nonlinearity contains some conjugate. The proof is even simpler since the sum is finite. We give a simpler proof for the convenience of the reader. In that

case,
$$M = 2$$
, $N = 1$ and $\lambda = 2$. If $U = (u_0, u_1) \in L^{\infty}(K)^2$, and $F(x, U) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -e^{i\varphi}|u_0|^2u_0 \end{pmatrix}$ then

$$\begin{aligned} \|F(x,U) - F(x,V)\|_{X_{s'}} &= \left\| \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ |u_0|^2 u_0 - |v_0|^2 v_0 \end{pmatrix} \right\|_{X_{s'}} \\ &= e^{-\tau(1-s')} \||u_0|^2 u_0 - |v_0|^2 v_0 \|_{L(s')} \\ &= e^{-\tau(1-s')} \|(u_0 - v_0)(u_0 + v_0)\overline{u_0} + v_0^2 (\overline{u_0} - \overline{v_0})\|_{L(s')} \\ &\leq \frac{3}{2} e^{-\tau(1-s')} \|u_0 - v_0\|_{L(s')} \left(\|u_0\|_{L(s')}^2 + \|v_0\|_{L(s')}^2 \right). \end{aligned}$$

We used the algebra property of Lemma 3.3 and the fact that the norm is invariant by conjugation. Using (3.18) and (3.31), we get, for a constant C depending on L_1 , M and N,

$$\|u_0\|_{L(s')} \le C\|u_0\|_{L(s'), \frac{M-1}{\lambda}} \le C\|U\|_{\mathcal{X}_{L(s')}} = Ce^{\tau(1-s')}\|U\|_{X_{s'}} \le Ce^{\tau}e^{-\tau(s-s')}\|U\|_{X_s}.$$

The same estimate is true for $u_0 - v_0$, and therefore we obtain

$$||F(x,U) - F(x,V)||_{X_{s'}} \le$$

$$C^{3}e^{-\tau(s-s')}e^{3\tau} \|U-V\|_{X_{s}} \left(\|U\|_{X_{s}}^{2} + \|V\|_{X_{s}}^{2} \right) \leq \frac{C^{3}e^{-1}e^{3\tau}}{\tau(s-s')}D^{2} \|U-V\|_{X_{s}},$$

where we have used (3.35). For fixed τ , it can be made arbitrarily small when D is chosen small enough. The proof finishes the same way for the existence of the solution. Concerning the estimates given in Section 6.1, the only difference concerns the term I_3 that becomes $I_3 = |e^{i\varphi}\partial_x^l\partial_t^n(y^2\overline{y})|$. In this part of the proof the induction argument (6.1) is valid for $k \in \{0,...,l+M-1\}$ for some $l \in \mathbb{N}$. The derivatives of \overline{y} have the same bounds as those of y in (6.1), namely

$$|\partial_x^k \partial_t^n \overline{y}(x,t)| \le C_k \frac{(2n+k)!}{R_1^k R_2^{2n} (2n+k+1)^{\mu}} \quad \forall (x,t) \in [-1,1] \times [t_1, t_2], \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (7.1)

We can apply similarly Lemma 4.10 twice to get

$$I_3 = \left| \partial_x^l \partial_t^n (y^2 \overline{y}) \right| \leq K^2 C_l^3 \frac{(2n+l)!}{R_1^l R_2^{2n} (2n+l+1)^{\mu}} \leq \widetilde{\beta}_{l+2} C_l \frac{(2n+l+2)!}{R_1^{l+2} R_2^{2n} (2n+l+2+1)^{\mu}}$$

with $\widetilde{\beta}_{l+2} = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{K^2 C_l^2 R_1^2}{(2n+l+1)(2n+l+2)} \frac{(2n+l+2+1)^{\mu}}{(2n+l+1)^{\mu}} \leq \frac{K^2 C_l^2 R_1^2}{(l+1)(l+2)} 3^{\mu}$. The rest of the estimate being the same, we can make the $\widetilde{\beta}_{l+2}$ arbitrarily small in a similar way. This completes the inductive step.

Proposition 7.2. Proposition 4.7 holds true for the complex Ginzburg-Landau equation.

Proof. The reconstruction is exactly the same working in \mathbb{C} instead of \mathbb{R} . The modifications of the estimates of the nonlinear term are done in the same way as in Theorem 7.1, noticing that \overline{y} satisfies the same estimates as y.

Proof of Theorem 2.5 and 2.6. This is the same as before with $\lambda = 2/1 = 2$. It only remains to check the condition about the non-linearity. We have $f(x, y_0, y_1) = e^{i\varphi}|y_0|^2y_0$. It satisfies $f(-x, -y_0, y_1) = -e^{i\varphi}|y_0|^2y_0 = -f(x, y_0, y_1)$ which is condition (1.18) for system (2.16), and $f(-x, y_0, -y_1) = e^{i\varphi}|y_0|^2y_0 = f(x, y_0, y_1)$ which is condition (1.19) for system (2.17).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Part of this work was done while the first author was visiting the Universidad del Valle at Cali. He would like to thank that institution for its hospitality. The second author would like to express her gratitude to Universidad del Valle, Department of Mathematics for all the facilities used during the realization of this work. The first author was supported by ANR project ISDEEC (ANR-16-CE40-0013). The third author was supported by the ANR project CHAT (ANR-24-CE40-5470). The first and third authors were supported by the COFECUB project COCECUB-20232505780P.

References

- [1] E. Cerpa, Null controllability and stabilization of the linear Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 9 (2010), no. 1, 91–102.
- [2] E. Cerpa, A. Mercado, A. F. Pazoto, Null controllability of the stabilized Kuramoto-Sivashinsky system with one distributed control force, SIAM J. Control Optim. 53 (2015), no. 3, 1543-1568.
- [3] E. Cerpa, I. Rivas, B.-Y. Zhang, Boundary controllability of the Korteweg-de Vries equation on a bounded domain, SIAM J. Control Optim. 51 (2013), 2976–3010.
- [4] J. Dardé, S. Ervedoza, On the reachable set for the one-dimensional heat equation, SIAM J. Control Optim. 56 (2018), no. 3, 1692–1715.
- [5] P. Duchateau, F. Trèves, An abstract Cauchy-Kowaleska theorem in scales of Gevrey classes, in Symposia Math. New York, NY, USA: Academic, 1971, vol. 7, 135–163.
- [6] W. Dunbar, N. Petit, P. Rouchon, P. Martin, Motion planning for a nonlinear Stefan problem, ESAIM-COCV 9 (2003), 275–296.
- [7] O. Y. Èmanuvilov, Controllability of parabolic equations, Mat. Sb. 186 (1995), no. 6, 109–132.
- [8] S. Ervedoza, K. Le Balc'h, M. Tucsnak Reachability results for perturbed heat equations. J. Funct. Anal. 283 (2022), no. 10, Paper No. 109666, 61 pp.
- [9] A.V. Fursikov, O. Yu. Imanuvilov. Controllability of Evolution Equations. Lectures Notes Series, vol. 34, Seoul National University, Research Institute of Mathematics, Global Analysis Research Center, Seoul, 1996.
- [10] O. Glass, S. Guerrero, Some exact controllability results for the linear KdV equation and uniform controllability in the zero-dispersion limit, Asymptot. Anal. 60 (2008), no. 1-2, 61–100.
- [11] Y.-L. L Guo, W. Littman, Null boundary controllability for semilinear heat equations, Appl. Math. Optim. 32 (1995), 281–316.
- [12] P. Guzmán, S. Marx, E. Cerpa, Stabilization of the linear Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation with a delayed boundary control, IFAC-PapersOnLine **52** (2019), no. 2, 70–75.
- [13] A. Hartmann, K. Kellay and M. Tucsnak, From the reachable space of the heat equation to Hilbert spaces of holomorphic functions, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 22 (2020), no. 10, 3417–3440.
- [14] A. Hartmann, M.-A. Orsoni, Separation of singularities for the Bergman space and application to control theory, J. Math. Pures Appl. (9) 150 (2021), 181–201.
- [15] T. Kano, T. Nishida, Sur les ondes de surfaces de l'eau avec une justification mathématique des équations des ondes en eau peu profonde, J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 19 (1979), No. 2, 335–370.
- [16] M. Kawagishi, T. Yamanaka, On the Cauchy problem for nonlinear PDEs in the Gevrey class with shrinkings, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 54 (2002), No. 3, 649–677.
- [17] D. Kinderlehrer, L. Nirenberg, Analyticity at the boundary of solutions of nonlinear second-order parabolic equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 31 (1978), no. 3, 283–338.
- [18] M. Kumar, S. Majumdar, Local null controllability of the stabilized Kuramoto-Sivashinsky system using moment method, Ad. Differential Equations 29 (2024), no. 3-4, 223–290.
- [19] B. Laroche, P. Martin, P. Rouchon, Motion planning for the heat equation, Internat. J. Robust Nonlinear Control 10, (2000), No. 8, 629–643.
- [20] C. Laurent, L. Rosier, Exact controllability of semilinear heat equations in spaces of analytic functions, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 37 (2020) No 4, 1047–1073.
- [21] W. Littman, S. Taylor, The heat and Schrödinger equations: boundary control with one shot. In Control methods in PDE-dynamical systems, Volume 426 of Contemp. Math., Amer. Math. Soc. (2007), 293–305.
- [22] P. Martin, I. Rivas, L. Rosier, P. Rouchon, Exact controllability of a linear Korteweg-de Vries equation by the flatness approach, SIAM J. Control Optim. 57 (2019), no. 4, 2467–2486.
- [23] P. Martin, L. Rosier, P. Rouchon, Null controllability of the heat equation using flatness, Automatica 50 (2014), 3067–3076.
- [24] P. Martin, L. Rosier, P. Rouchon, Null controllability of one-dimensional parabolic equations by the flatness approach, SIAM J. Control Optim. **54** (2016), No. 1, 198—220.
- [25] P. Martin, L. Rosier, P. Rouchon, On the reachable states for the boundary control of the heat equation, Appl. Math. Res. Express. AMRX 2016, no. 2, 181–216.

- [26] P. Martin, L. Rosier, P. Rouchon, Controllability of the 1D Schrödinger equation using flatness, Automatica 91 (2018), 208–216..
- [27] T. Meurer. Control of higher-dimensional PDEs. Flatness and backstepping designs. Communications and Control Engineering Series. Springer, Heidelberg, 2013.
- [28] L. Nirenberg, An abstract form of the nonlinear Cauchy-Kowalewski theorem, J. Differential Geometry 6 (1972) 561–576.
- [29] T. Nishida, A note on a theorem of Nirenberg, J. Differential Geometry 12 (1977), 629–633.
- [30] H.-J. Petzsche, On E. Borel's theorem, Math. Ann. 282 (1988), no. 2, 299–313.
- [31] L. Rosier, Control of the surface of a fluid by a wavemaker, ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 10 (3) (2004), 346–380.
- [32] W. Rudin. Principles of mathematical analysis. Internat. Ser. Pure Appl. Math. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York-Auckland-Düsseldorf, 1976.
- [33] W. Rudin. Real and complex analysis. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, 1987.
- [34] B. Schörkhuber, T. Meurer, A. Jüngel, Flatness of semilinear parabolic PDEs-A Generalized Cauchy-Kowalevski Approach, IEEE Trans. Autom. Control 58 (2013), no. 9, 2277–2291.
- [35] T. Yamanaka, A new higher order chain rule and Gevrey class, Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 7 (1989), No. 3, 179–203.
- [36] T. Yamanaka, A Cauchy-Kovalevskaja type theorem in the Gevrey class with a vector-valued time variable, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 7 (1992), No. 9-10, 1457-1502.

CNRS UMR 9008, Université Reims-Champagne-Ardennes, Laboratoire de Mathématiques de Reims (LMR), Moulin de la Housse-BP 1039, 51687 REIMS cedex 2, France

E-mail address: camille.laurent@univ-reims.fr

UNIVERSIDAD DEL VALLE, DEPARTAMENTO DE MATEMÁTICAS, CALI, COLOMBIA *E-mail address*: ivonne.rivas@correounivalle.edu.co

Université du Littoral Côte d'Opale, Laboratoire de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées J. Liouville, B.P. 699, F-62228 Calais, France

E-mail address: Lionel.Rosier@univ-littoral.fr